# Low-Temperature Oxidation of CO in Smoke: A Review\*

by

Alexander J. Dyakonov and Edward A. Robinson

A. W. Spears Research Center, Lorillard Tobacco Co., 420 English St., Greensboro N.C. 27420, USA

#### **CONTENTS**

| Sumn            | mmary   |     |
|-----------------|---|-----|
| 1               | Introduction  | 89  |
| 2               | Background Consideration                            | 89  |
| 3               | Palladium and Platinum Catalysts                    | 90  |
| 3.1             | Surface reactions                                   | 91  |
| 3.1.1           | State of active oxygen and CO                       | 91  |
| 3.1.2           | Kinetic oscillations                                | 92  |
| 3.1.3           | Subsurface oxygen and desorption of CO <sub>2</sub> | 92  |
| 3.2             | Preparation of catalysts                            | 93  |
| 3.2.1           | Co-precipitation and precipitation                  | 93  |
| 3.2.2           |   | 94  |
| 3.2.3           | Selectivity of deposition                           | 95  |
| 3.3             | Heterogenized homogeneous catalysts                 | 95  |
| 4               | Gold Catalysts                                      | 96  |
| 4.1             | Mechanisms of CO oxidation                          | 96  |
| 4.1.1           | State of metal clusters                             | 96  |
| 4.1.2           | Composition of active site                          | 97  |
| 4.1.3           | Different supports for gold                         | 97  |
| 4.2             | Preparation of catalysts                            | 98  |
| 5               | Conclusions   | 99  |
| Acknowledgments |   | 100 |
| References      |   | 100 |

#### **SUMMARY**

The low-temperature catalytic oxidation of CO has been reviewed, targeting its possible application to cigarette smoke. The treatment of CO in smoke by using a filter-packed catalyst is extremely complicated by the presence of a variety of chemically active gaseous compounds, a particulate phase, the high velocity of pulsing smoke flow, and ambient temperature. The relevant mechanisms of catalysis and the catalyst preparation variables that could help to overcome these problems are considered. Possible contributors to the overall kinetics that must include variety of diffusion processes were briefly discussed. The chemi-

sorption of  $O_2$ , CO and  $CO_2$  on Pd, Pt and Au and on partially reducible supports, surface reactions and oscillations of the CO oxidation rate were analyzed. The effects of the surface structure and electronic properties of the catalyst support, preparation conditions and presence of a second transition metal on the projected CO oxidation activity of the catalysts in smoke are also discussed. The reviewed catalyst preparation approaches can solve the low-temperature catalyst activity problem. However, more work is required to stabilize this activity of an air-exposed catalyst to provide a necessary shelf life for a cigarette. The greatest challenge seems to be a particular phase - exclusive selectivity that would not contradict with the necessary fast diffusion of gases through the catalyst pores. [Beitr. Tabakforsch. Int. 22 (2006) 88–106]

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Es wurde die katalytische Oxidation von CO bei niedrigen Temperaturen im Hinblick auf eine mögliche Anwendung beim Zigarettenrauch untersucht. Die Umsetzung des Kohlenmonoxids (CO) im Rauch durch einen in den Filter eingepackten Katalysator wird durch die Vielzahl chemisch aktiver gasförmiger Verbindungen, die Gegenwart einer Partikelphase, die hohe Geschwindigkeit des pulsierenden Rauchstroms und die Umgebungstemperatur extrem erschwert. Die wichtigen Katalysemechanismen und die bei der Herstellung des Katalysators einfließenden Variablen, die bei der Überwindung dieser Schwierigkeiten helfen könnten, werden berücksichtigt. Mögliche Faktoren, die an der Kinetik der Abläufe beteiligt sind, einschließlich einer Vielzahl von Diffusionsprozessen werden kurz angesprochen. Die Chemisorption von O<sub>2</sub>, CO und CO<sub>2</sub> an Palladium (Pd), Platin (Pt) und Au und an teilweise reduzierbarem Trägermaterial, Oberflächenreaktionen und Oszillationen der CO-Oxidationsrate wurden analysiert. Die Auswirkungen der Oberflächenstruktur und die elektronischen Eigenschaften der Katalysator-Trägersubstanzen, die Herstellungsbedingungen und die

<sup>\*</sup>Received: 10th January 2006 - accepted: 10th May 2006

Beteiligung eines zweiten Übergangsmetalls an der erwünschten Aktivität der CO-Oxidation des Katalysators werden ebenfalls diskutiert. Die beschriebenen Ansätze zur Herstellung des Katalysators können helfen, die bei niedrigen Temperaturen auftretenden Aktivitätsprobleme des Katalysators zu überwinden. Es ist jedoch zusätzliche Arbeit erforderlich, um diese Aktivität eines der Luft ausgesetzten Katalysators zu stabilisieren, um die Zigarette ausreichend lagerfähig zu machen. Die größte Herausforderung scheint hierbei eine spezielle Selektivität für die Phase zu sein, die nicht im Widerspruch zur notwendigen schnellen Diffusion von Gasen durch die Poren des Katalysators steht. [Beitr. Tabakforsch. Int. 22 (2006) 88–106]

# **RESUME**

L'oxydation catalytique du monoxyde de carbone (CO) à faible température a été étudiée en vue d'une application potentielle à la fumée de cigarette. Le traitement du CO dans la fumée en utilisant un catalyseur chargé dans le filtre est particulièrement compliqué par la présence de multiples composants chimiquement actifs, une phase particulaire, une grande vitesse des flux d'air et la température ambiante. Les mécanismes pertinents de la catalyse et les variables de conception du catalyseur pouvant aider à résoudre ces problèmes sont pris en considération.

Des paramètres pouvant contribuer à la cinétique de réaction, y compris divers processus de diffusion, sont traités brièvement. La chimisorption de O<sub>2</sub>, CO et CO<sub>2</sub> sur le palladium (Pd), le platine (Pt) et l'aluminium (Au) et sur des supports partiellement réductibles, des réactions à la surface et des oscillations du taux d'oxydation du CO ont été analysées. Les effets de la structure de la surface et les propriétés électroniques du support catalytique, les conditions de fabrication et la présence d'un deuxième métal de transition, sur l'activité prévue d'oxydation du CO dans la fumée sont également discutés. L'approche présentée pour préparer un catalyseur peut résoudre le problème d'activité du catalyseur qui se manifeste aux faibles températures. Plus d'études sont cependant nécessaires pour stabiliser cette activité de catalyseurs exposés à l'air pour garantir un bon fonctionnement à l'intérieur de la cigarette. Le défi le plus important semble être une sélectivité pour la phase particulaire qui ne serait pas en contradiction avec la diffusion rapide nécessaire du gaz à travers les pores du catalyseur. [Beitr. Tabakforsch. Int. 22 (2006) 88-106]

# 1 INTRODUCTION

A few percent by volume of CO is present in tobacco smoke, accompanied by a wide variety of compounds that could potentially react with it, including about 10% O<sub>2</sub> by volume. The undesirable CO could be eliminated from smoke by its chemisorption on transition metal complexes, hydrogenation and hydroformylation with H<sub>2</sub> and hydrocarbons, and by the water-gas-shift (WGS) reaction. These reactions could be conducted in a cigarette filter cavity at ambient temperature, where the high heat of CO oxidation could even elevate local temperature and accelerate catalysis. The same could also be detrimental if the cigarette filter

becomes too hot. Oxidation of CO by  $O_2$  and/or by  $NO_x$  is the most common means for the abatement of CO, and will be addressed in this review.

Catalytic oxidative abatement of CO in gas mixtures, containing NO<sub>x</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, H<sub>2</sub> and hydrocarbons, has been studied extensively over a wide temperature range. These processes have been optimized for many industrial applications, including the purification of hydrogen for fuel cells (1), emissions control and other processes reviewed in (2,3). However, the elimination of CO from a variety of aerosol-containing streams, such as tobacco smoke, the complexity of which was reviewed by RODGMAN and GREEN (4), suffers from many additional complications (5). They include the presence of numerous reactive compounds, formed along with CO and described by BAKER (6), which would readily deactivate the catalyst active sites (6-8). This makes the selectivity of the applied catalyst particularly important. The selectivity to treat primarily CO should ideally be a combination of chemical selectivity, molecular size exclusive selectivity and selectivity to treat gas in the presence of a particulate phase. The objectives of this paper were to review the scientific literature on the catalytic oxidation of CO and identify systems that could be applicable to reducing CO yields in cigarette smoke. Since valuable information in this area relates mostly to the gasphase catalysis, not complicated by the presence of particulate phase, we have considered many such examples, while trying to extrapolate results to the case of cigarette smoke.

# 2 BACKGROUND CONSIDERATION

Such restrictive control of catalyst selectivity, however, usually causes a decrease in activity towards the goal CO oxidation. For application inside a cigarette filter cavity, the temperature for sufficient conversion is required to be as low as ambient; hence, the activity of a catalyst must be extremely high. The pulsed profiles of CO and other smoke components and their high flow rates up to  $10^6 \, h^{-1}$  through up to 1-mL catalyst bed are quite unusual for heterogeneous catalysis (the common in catalysis flow rate units "h<sup>-1</sup>", which denote the volume unit of smoke per volume unit of catalyst during one hour, are used for comparison of the described catalysts).

Considering such a high smoke velocity, an additional complication arises from the necessity for a sufficiently low pressure drop on the cigarette filter loaded with a catalyst. This can be achieved on larger catalyst particles, whereas smaller catalyst particles are needed for avoiding external diffusion limitations in the catalyst bed. Instead of using the fine catalyst particles, one of the options could be an application of metal foam supported catalyst converters (9) or coated ceramic monoliths, capable of converting CO at up to  $8\times 10^4\,h^{-1}$  flow rates of gas (10). This approach can also help to dispense the heat of CO oxidation faster, the excess of which can adversely affect a cigarette performance.

A solution to the problem of the unusually high catalyst activity required was suggested by WANG *et al.* (11) where CO was not necessarily all oxidized, but rather temporarily retained on a CO chemisorbent/catalyst during the puff and redirected between puffs from the mainstream smoke,

Table 1. General approaches and the case studies in CO oxidation catalysis

| Catalyst types for CO oxidation   | References               |
|---|--------------------------|
| Complications in catalytic CO removal in smoke  | 1–5, 7, 8                |
| Catalyst monoliths could be used for pressure drop decrease   | 9,1                      |
| Fe/TiO <sub>2</sub> , Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> catalysts are used for CO abatement in smoke   | 9, 10, 14                |
| CoO <sub>x</sub> /CeO <sub>2</sub> catalysts have potential for low temperatures  | 19, 22, 23               |
| La-Sr-Mn perovskites are for CO+NO and WGS at high temperature  | 30–32                    |
| Pt, Pd/zeolite are for CO+O <sub>2</sub> ; Ir/zeolite is for NO dissociation  | 33                       |
| NO is a co-catalyst for CO+O <sub>2</sub> on Rh, Pd-Au, Ag-Cu/C, zeolite  | 24, 34, 35               |
| Characteristics of active supports (TiO <sub>2</sub> , ZrO <sub>2</sub> ) for catalysts   | 36                       |
| Au is for low temperature, sensitive to water<br>and CO <sub>2</sub> ; Pt, Pd - are resistant to those<br>factors; Cu is for higher temperature; Ir is<br>for high velocity | 11, 13, 16–18,<br>21, 26 |

through the filter ventilation holes out of the cigarette. However, even this "CO pump" worked more efficiently when a high activity oxidation catalyst Ag/zeolite was applied. In one of the very few studies published, a complete and steady conversion of 1% CO in air at a flow rate of  $5 \times 10^5$  h<sup>-1</sup> on Au/Fe(OH)<sub>x</sub> at room temperature was observed by WU *et al.* (12). In a similar case, OKUMURA *et al.* (13) studied catalysts composed of TiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, SnO<sub>2</sub> or Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, supported at the 2% level iridium. Among them, the Ir/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst provided a complete CO conversion in a  $2 \times 10^4$  h<sup>-1</sup> flow of 1% CO gas at ambient temperature.

For CO oxidation in smoke the catalysis conditions would adversely affect such excellent results. Nevertheless, in the rare case of using the TiO<sub>2</sub>-Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst, LI, HAJALIGOL *et al.* (7,14,15) reported successful removal of CO from cigarette smoke. In the absence of a noble metal, iron oxide catalyst showed an acceptable activity around 240 °C. The authors showed that supported iron on iron oxide can work even better (13,14) for simultaneous treatment of CO and NO in a cavity filter of a cigarette.

Copper, when it is the only active metal in the catalyst, could be very active when affected by a metal-support interaction (MSI) with, for example, ceria or samaria-doped ceria (11,16-18). ZHANG et al. (19) decomposed Cu pentanedionate complex on a support and prepared the Cu/CeO<sub>2</sub> catalyst, which was active at room temperature. It showed a very high sensitivity to moisture because of Cu(OH)<sub>2</sub> formation. Nevertheless, DEEVI and PALDEY (20) developed and patented similar catalyst for application in cigarette smoke. A more complex preparation procedure named "solvated metal impregnation", where copper was supported on CeO<sub>2</sub> from a toluene solution of evaporated Cu metal, was used by ZHANG et al. (21). This method produced a catalyst that was more resistant to the catalytic poisons, however it was not sufficiently active at ambient temperature.

The presence of mobile oxygen in Co<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> makes cobalt an attractive transition metal for oxidation catalysts (22), even

though the existing catalysts require elevated temperatures for CO oxidation. Thus, the onset temperature of CO conversion was found to be around 100 °C for 15% CoO<sub>x</sub> on CeO<sub>2</sub> with an observed synergetic effect as reported by KANG *et al.* (23). A combination of the properties of copper and cobalt resulted in the efficient CeO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-supported catalyst for selective oxidation of CO in the predominantly hydrogen atmosphere, as suggested by PARK *et al.* (24). However, up till now we could not find published results, which have suggested the application of cobalt- or copper-based catalysts in a cigarette filter.

AVGOUROPOULOS et al. (17) performed an experimental comparison of Pt/γ-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Au/α-Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and CuO/CeO<sub>2</sub> for CO oxidation in reaction gas that contained H<sub>2</sub>. The Au catalysts performed better at low temperatures both in dry and slightly humid atmospheres, whereas the Cu catalysts became superior at higher temperatures. However, the Au catalysts appeared to be the most sensitive to water and CO<sub>2</sub> deactivation, while the Pt and Pd-Cu on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> were the most resistant to all these factors. In the latter cases, the high CO oxidation activity of the noble metals in the presence of water were linked to the high activity of these catalysts in the low-temperature WGS conversion of CO by water, as reported by KEGGI (25) and UTAKA et al. (26). This paper will address the properties of the supported Pd and Au catalysts with Ag, Cu and other metals as catalyst promoters. Heterogenized PdCl<sub>2</sub>-CuCl<sub>2</sub> Wacker-type catalysts are also considered which are known to be active at very low (below 0 °C) temperatures and may be transformed into highly dispersed Pd-Cu supported systems (8). It is noteworthy that such separation of the metal functions as to perform catalysis and promoting catalysis is conditional, especially in the latter example of the Pd-Cu complex. This definition has been used for convenience to specify which metal mostly carries the active sites and

Most of the experimental results described here were obtained in smoke-free reaction gases, although the published works were selected to provide information, applicable to cigarette smoking conditions. Several recent literature reviews, written by CoQ and FIGUERAS (27), TOEBES et al. (28), STAKHEEV and KUSTOV (29), are referenced here providing both useful ideas and discussions of many case studies. We have also highlighted some critical characteristics of CO oxidation catalysis that are applicable to a cigarette filter in Table 1. Many aspects of this problem are beyond the scope of our paper; as is whether direct oxidation during the room temperature filtration of cigarette smoke is the most feasible solution for selective CO removal. Being optimistic about the task, we think that comprehensive studies of catalysis in smoke are necessary. They will ultimately suggest a catalyst system that will possess high activity at room temperature, combined with the particle size and molecular selectivity and acceptable costs.

which metal mostly promotes them.

# 3 PALLADIUM AND PLATINUM CATALYSTS

The numerous available publications on supported Pt and Pd mono- and bi-metallic catalysts, used for low-temperature CO oxidation, often appear to provide valuable complementary data and will be discussed together.

Table 2. Catalysis features on Pd and Pt catalysts on active supports

| Essentials of CO oxidation process   | References         |
|--|--------------------|
| Pd is more tolerant to heteroatom compounds TiO <sub>2</sub> increases oxygen mobility at the beginning of the reaction    | 37–39<br>16, 41–44 |
| Reaction of lattice oxygen via surface formates and carbonates   | 16, 45–48          |
| Spillover to the metal-support interface and CO oxidation on it  | 41, 49–53          |
| Bridged CO vs. linear CO and surface coverage<br>Non-dissociative CO chemisorption,<br>characteristic to Pd, is beneficial | 10, 49, 54<br>27   |
| Oxidation of CO by NO and ${\rm O_2}$ is promoted by Fe, Mo, Mn, Cu, Cr  | 29, 55–57          |

However, the Pd catalysts seemed to be a better choice for a smoke application because they have a higher low-temperature catalytic activity and dispersion stability. In addition, some Pd catalysts, e.g., Pd on CeO<sub>2</sub> (37), are relatively tolerant to the sulfur compounds. This catalyst was found to be more resistant to catalytic poisons when modified with Co or Mo (38,39). Pd on NaZSM-5, where the zeolite may improve gas-phase selectivity in smoke, can be prepared providing 50% conversion of CO below 40 °C by tuning the calcination temperature high and reduction temperature low (40). Some of the important aspects of these catalysts' application in smoke are discussed below; others are referenced in Table 2.

#### 3.1 Surface reactions

The network of reactions on the surface of Pd and Pt that leads to the formation of  $CO_2$  in gas includes adsorption and activation of CO and  $O_2$ , surface diffusion and structuring of these chemisorbed molecules that may result in oscillations of oxidation rate, diffusion of oxygen deeper in and out of the crystalline lattice of the support, and desorption of the product  $CO_2$ . All these partial processes can be influential on the initial and steady-state activity of catalysts and on selectivity and sensitivity to the deactivating components of smoke.

3.1.1 State of active oxygen and CO: The role of oxygen stored in the support lattice is fundamental in the mechanisms of CO oxidation on supported Pd and was investigated in (58,59). In addition to the CO chemisorption on Pd, the Pd-support interaction was found to further promote the transfer of active oxygen from sub-surface layers to the reaction. This conclusion was supported by the fact that, in oxygen-free surroundings, CO caused a significant agglomeration of 1–2 nm Pt clusters on TiO<sub>2</sub> even at room temperature (59). The mechanism of  $O_2$  adsorption and its state on the surface of Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> was studied by UNER et al. (45), where O<sub>2</sub> was found to be chemisorbed in the molecular form first on the carrier and then on Pt upon saturation of the catalyst surface. Until then, oxygen was found to be atomized to some extent that also agreed with the fact that the oxygen adsorption heat decreased with increased O<sub>2</sub> pressure.

The genesis of the oxygen atoms from CO and  $O_2$  (air) was elucidated when Pt/CeO<sub>2</sub> was studied by ERTL (46) in CO

combustion under the transient conditions of cold start of a car, and when oxidation on a similar catalyst was conducted in the presence of H<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O (16). During low-temperature CO oxidation, the catalysts were covered predominantly with CO molecules. The oxygen atoms of CO remained for a longer time in the catalyst than the carbon atoms; that was explained by formation of carbonate on ceria and subsequent exchange of its oxygen with the ceria lattice. Formation of formate, carbonate and bicarbonate structures in CO/H<sub>2</sub> gas on titania, zirconia and ceria was found and investigated by MA *et al.* (47) and by IIDA *et al.* (48). These results emphasize the importance of chemisorption on noble metal and spillover, or transfer of CO on active support and its reaction with the surface oxygen outside the transition metal clusters.

The term "active support" has become common in catalysis to denote the supports that can both activate some of the interacting gas molecules, and affect the electronic structure and activity of the metal clusters on them. Thus, the ZrO<sub>2</sub>-CeO<sub>2</sub> support was found to be the most active promoter for Pt, followed by the individual oxides of Ce and Zr. The results in (16,41,42) suggest that the generated oxygen species could both spill over to the metal particles and react directly with the reducing CO molecule in gas or on the metal surface, which is more commonly considered. The authors of (42,43) found an increased reducibility of both CeO<sub>2</sub> and PdO in similar catalysts as a result of incorporation of TiO<sub>2</sub>. This synergism in the binary oxide support resulted in an increased oxygen mobility, particularly at the beginning of the reaction, and would be beneficial for catalysis in smoke under puffing conditions.

A noble metal oxide layer surrounding the supported metal particles was found to form as a result of oxygen diffusion from the support. The content of this two-dimensional phase on the Pt/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst varies with the surrounding conditions, particularly with the different content of the reaction gas (49). The resulting synergism between oxide phases was explained by WENG and DELMON (50) as a spillover, or surface diffusion of dissociatively adsorbed oxygen onto the metal/metal oxide interface and its reaction with the chemisorbed CO. This is consistent with a "noncompetitive" Langmuir-Hinshelwood mechanism, discussed by WOOTSCH *et al.* (41).

The migration of an excessive oxygen from the reducible support to the transition metal could even block the CO active sites as found by MIRKELAMOGLU and KARAKAS (51) for the Na-promoted Pt/SnO $_2$ . Unlike the SnO $_2$ -supported catalysts (51,52), the extensive kinetic study by BOURANE and BIANCHI (53) indicated no synergism for the Pt/Al $_2$ O $_3$  catalyst. A low-temperature CO oxidation on this catalyst involved a non-competitive chemisorption of CO and O $_2$  on Pt and a Langmuir-type surface reaction between linearly adsorbed CO and weakly adsorbed oxygen.

The state of reacting CO is determined primarily by the multiplicity of its sorption. Linearly adsorbed CO appears to be the surface state prior to the oxidation act on a Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-type catalyst, whereas the bridged CO just occupied the oxygen activation sites. AHLUVALIA *et al.* (10) showed that the rate of low-temperature oxidation of CO was limited by the removal of the bridged CO. This slow liberation of the Pt<sup>0</sup> site is necessary to allow formation of weakly adsorbed oxygen that requires an induction period

of several seconds. Therefore, the situation with the Pt surface initially covered with CO is not acceptable for a cigarette filter application, where the whole reaction must have been completed in a fraction of a second. Although this seemed not to be the case in a cigarette because of a long-term initial exposure of the catalyst to air, other volatile molecules could adsorb and block oxygen in a similar or stronger manner.

In a situation where CO and O<sub>2</sub> on the metal surface are localized in separate domains, the reaction between chemisorbed molecules is expected to take place only on the boundaries of these domains (49). In the reversed situation that is more characteristic of a cigarette, when O<sub>2</sub> saturates the Pd surface, the subsequent adsorption of CO may take place at the top (54). Further uptake of CO can also compress the oxygen layer into the domains. The electron acceptor oxygen on the Pd surface in the neighborhood of CO can reduce the net electron transfer from the metal to the CO ligand and thereby weaken the metal-CO bond that must facilitate the catalytic oxidation as shown in (60) for Pd/CeO<sub>2</sub>. This surface "fill-up" model, which is effective when a reducible CeO<sub>2</sub> support is used, seems to be potentially applicable and beneficial for a cigarette filter.

3.1.2 *Kinetic oscillations*: An approximately two-second puff profile of CO production within the cigarette burning zone imposes certain requirements on the starting activity of the catalyst. Besides, this the catalytic activity must be high, and it should not have even a second-long induction period. Additionally, the catalytic oxidation of other volatile organic compounds, present in smoke, may also experience similar oscillations (61) that can further complicate the process. Therefore, the kinetic oscillations, which are a well-known and thoroughly studied feature of CO catalytic oxidation in other than smoke environments, will be addressed in this review.

The phenomenon is partially caused by a competitive sorption of  $O_2$  and CO on a noble metal crystal and on the support, and involves interaction between chemisorbed molecules (46,62). The authors of (63,64) experimentally investigated the kinetics of the  $CO+O_2$  reaction. Some of the mechanisms of this process have been established, particularly the chemisorption of CO and CO on different adsorption sites. An asymmetric inhibition of the process by CO was found to be a part of the oscillation mechanism. Thus, whereas the dissociative CO chemisorption was strongly inhibited by the presence of preadsorbed CO, the chemisorbed oxygen atoms formed open ad-layers that did not significantly affect the additional CO uptake.

The oscillations of the CO oxidation rate typically occur within a relatively narrow range of CO concentration of around 1%, which is an average CO level in cigarette smoke that in maximum can reach a few percent. The kinetic models of the entire process including the rate oscillations and formation of adsorbate patterns on surfaces of Pt, Pd and Ir were analyzed in detail by KURKINA, ZHDANOV *et al.* (65,66) and more recently by YAN *et al.* (67). These models were derived from the Langmuir-Hinshelwood mechanism, which was found to be sufficient to explain the oscillation kinetics. Thus, at low CO pressure the Pt surface was largely covered with adsorbed oxygen and the reaction rate usually was proportional to CO

pressure. When CO coverage became so high that it started to inhibit  $O_2$  adsorption, further increase of CO pressure decreased the reaction rate, which now became limited by  $O_2$  adsorption. The decrease of the rate with increasing CO pressure became steeper at lower surface temperatures, caused by a drop in the reaction heat.

The reaction rate oscillations on the noble metal catalysts are also associated with a periodic variation of the atomic structure of the surface. Thus, a clean metal surface, e.g., Pt with a  $1\times 2$  structure reversibly transforms into the  $1\times 1$  structure if the CO surface coverage exceeds about 20% (66,58) or even less if transformation is promoted by the reaction heat (67). This heat overcomes the 1.1 kJ/mol of difference in the energies between  $1\times 1$  over  $1\times 2$  arrangements on Pt. On the other hand, the probability of adsorption is larger on the  $1\times 1$  phase than on the  $1\times 2$  phase, which promoted the removal of CO after the  $1\times 2$  to  $1\times 1$  transfer.

The oscillation phenomenon was thoroughly investigated for polycrystalline supported noble metal by ZHDANOV and KASEMO (66) and provided practical information for a catalyst development. The authors showed the influence of the metal cluster, indicating that the probability of oscillations diminishes with Pt crystal sized below 4 nm. The oscillation mechanism comes into play on Pd at low pressures, whereas on Pt it happens at higher pressures (46). This may provide some reference for design of the catalyst for a cigarette that would be less complicated with the rate oscillations.

Typically the period of one rate oscillation is 1 to 2 seconds, which matches the duration of a single puff of a cigarette. The puff most likely starts with the all-surface configuration  $1 \times 2$  being covered with oxygen and should end with the noble metal surface partially reconstructed into the  $1 \times 1$  symmetry. During this time the  $O_2$  adsorption is the rate-limiting stage as concluded by the studies (46, 69–72). On the  $1 \times 1$  patches thus formed, more  $O_2$  will be adsorbed and react with adsorbed CO, so that the coverage by CO drops below the critical value, which provides stability of the  $1 \times 1$  phase. The surface structure, therefore, transforms back to  $1 \times 2$  where the  $O_2$  sticking coefficient is smaller and the CO coverage may build up again, repeating the process. This model suggests that the actual CO oxidation in a cigarette filter may reach a significant rate later in the puff or even after the puff when the reaction will proceed with already chemisorbed CO. This provides an estimate of about 1 mg for the needed CO capacity of the catalyst bed in the filter or for the CO delivery within a single puff. In the following paragraphs we will discuss the source of oxygen to oxidize CO and to restore the original state on the catalyst.

3.1.3 Subsurface oxygen and desorption of  $CO_2$ : The oscillation phenomenon causes a clockwise reaction rate hysteresis if the CO pressure is continuously increased and decreased again, similar to that in the puff-by-puff smoking. Such a clockwise hysteresis was also observed at low and variable  $O_2$  pressure but was found to change to counter-clockwise as  $O_2$  pressure was increased. This additional mechanism was attributed to the participation of oxygen atoms, dissolved below the surface (50,73). If the surface is largely covered with oxygen atoms, they will penetrate below the surface,

leaving the surface less active and the oxygen-sticking coefficient reduced. As a consequence, the surface may become predominantly covered by CO, creating conditions for subsurface oxygen atoms to move back to the surface from the reservoir until the initial situation is reestablished and one oscillation cycle is completed.

The importance of sub-surface oxygen in catalysis diminished when the size of a transition metal oxide cluster increased, as described in detail by CIMINO and STONE (74). However, the sub-surface oxygen is also present in the partially reducible supports, like titania or ceria, which causes the O2 activation mechanism to be influential in catalysts of the Pd/CeO2-type. A direct interaction of CO with the oxygen from ceria-zirconia was shown experimentally by BAORO et al. (75) to be a major contributor in catalysis under unsteady-state experimental conditions. Based on similar models, LIU (76) and SIRIJARUPHAN (77) with co-authors found that, for Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, addition of iron oxide provided oxygen for oxidation of CO adsorbed on Pt, thereby creating a dual-site non-competitive mechanism for catalysis. This approach of accumulating active oxygen for further CO or hydrocarbon oxidation was utilized by BERNDT and LANDRI (78) to design a layered catalyst structure, in which a lower layer or substrate serves as an oxygen activator. The important feature of such catalysts (77) was an enhancement of the catalytic activity for selective CO oxidation in hydrogen streams, and therefore might have potential for application in smoke.

The authors of (79,80) investigated the Ag<sub>2</sub>O surface layer with oxygen both above and below the surface. In this situation, CO acted as a chemical regulator of the dissolved oxygen atoms in the near-surface region. The maximum oxygen capacity of the sub-surface oxide layer corresponded to its full reduction (81-83). If we consider 100-mg loading of a catalyst in cigarette filter that carries about 1 m<sup>2</sup> of reducible oxide, than we estimate that all oxygen in this monolayer may oxidize about 1 mg CO. This amount approximately represents CO in smoke from one puff of 35-mL volume under Federal Trade Commission (FTC) smoking conditions. If we further assume that the catalyst can "recharge" its oxygen during a minute between puffs from gas, then the source of active oxygen for the 2second puff will be totally internal. Therefore, the CO oxidation rate may not necessarily be limited by chemisorption and activation of O<sub>2</sub> from gas. Supporting this estimation is the finding by BEDRANE et al. (83) that the process of a noble metal-assisted oxygen penetration into the ceria and ceria-zirconia-supported noble metal catalysts appeared to be fast.

The mechanism of CO<sub>2</sub> participation in the oxidation process must be considered for a cigarette filter application because of the high concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in smoke and the following literature data. Nijhuis *et al.* (84) investigated desorption of CO<sub>2</sub> from the Pt catalyst below 150 °C and found that CO<sub>2</sub> formation was faster than its desorption, and its rate therefore should be taken into account for the descriptive kinetics. A similar rate-limiting step was found also by Boulahouche *et al.* (85) on Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> at sub-ambient temperature and by Cimino and Stone (74) on Co/MgO catalysts at higher temperatures. These findings may agree with other studies where CO<sub>2</sub> desorption was found to be fast (53,73) if this adsorbed CO<sub>2</sub> is considered

in terms of the OC-O surface complex, just formed from  $CO_{ads}$  and  $O_{ads}$  according to (86). Besides, the  $CO_2$  desorption rate was found to relatively decrease with decreased temperature (87) that makes this process kinetically influential for room temperature catalysis in smoke.

#### 3.2 Preparation of catalysts

Application of molecular sieves or, more specifically, zeolites or clays for smoke filtration may improve selectivity of the catalysts (88,89). Since the structures and applications of zeolites have been thoroughly discussed in the literature, we will only highlight a few expected complications emerging in smoke. One of them is clogging and deactivation of the pores by mostly polar molecules and particles. Since the task of keeping water and other highly polar molecules out of the catalyst surface is quite difficult, a more feasible solution could be an application of a larger aperture size zeolite. Thus, a 5Å zeolite was found to provide access for CO molecules to the cavities until it gets hydrated in open air, whereas the 9Å zeolite gained better sieving properties after long term storage in a humid air (8).

Another feature of zeolite-supported metal catalysts appears to be their relatively low stability in a redox surrounding. Reduction of metal oxide can move the metal ions within or out of the cavities even at temperatures below 100 °C, whereas oxidation may partially redistribute it back. Such metal transfer was found to be more significant for the catalysts with high metal loadings. An excessive reduction in CO and sintering of Pd or Fe in a ZSM-5 matrix could overfill zeolite cavities and make them inaccessible for gas molecules, as shown by LOBREE *et al.* (90,91). Since these processes are faster at elevated temperatures, the room temperature cavity filter-type applications of zeolite-supported metals would work better for cigarettes.

Specially prepared carbons, such as industrial-scale activated carbonized wood, bitum or coconut shells, or sophisticated materials such as nanotubes and fullerenes can successfully be used for low-temperature CO oxidation catalysts. The activated carbons will be discussed along with the very interesting Wacker catalysts, because the carbon support appears to be a part of almost all catalysts of this type. However, application of carbon-supported catalysts for cigarette smoke filtration is rigorously limited by a non-selective adsorption activity of carbon in smoke. Therefore, catalysts on carbon-type supports are not discussed in this review.

3.2.1 Co-precipitation and precipitation: The preparation of supported small clusters of noble metals with necessary catalyst characteristics can be done in a variety of ways, among which the co-precipitation and precipitation on the support, followed by thermo-treatments and reduction, seem to be most practical and provide good results. The catalysts, built on these principals in the zeolite cavities, would have even more advantages for a selective treatment of gas molecules in the presence of particulate in smoke. The catalysts from the co-precipitation method are usually characterized by a narrow distribution of metal particles from 1 to 3 nm. These particles may be relatively stable in an inert or, preferably, oxidative atmosphere at elevated temperatures, which are applied for decomposition of an intermediate

complex. Heat treatment in a reducing atmosphere often causes sintering, most likely due to the formation of intermediate PdH<sub>x</sub>. A co-precipitation procedure of the catalyst, preceding the heat treatment, is important in arranging the necessary metal-metal and metal-support interactions to control sintering. A variety of starting materials, e.g., PdCl<sub>2</sub>, Pd(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>, Pd(acac)<sub>2</sub>, (C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>O)<sub>4</sub>Si, along with temperatures, pH, solvents (alcohols, acetone, aqueous ammonia), reactive or inert atmospheres, and other variables was considered in detail in (28,92).

Thus, by simply controlling the pH of aqueous  $Pd(NO_3)_2$ , the isolated complex  $Pd(H_2O)_4^{2+}$  can be formed at pH < 1 whereas small PdO colloidal particles of 1.7–1.8 nm can be prepared by hydrolysis at pH > 2 (28). This situation appeared different in the presence of stronger ligands. The presence of ammonia yielded the complex ion  $Pd(NH_3)_4^{2+}$ , stable in quite basic environment, whereas the chloride ion formed a complex  $PdCl_4^{2-}$ , which was stable in a neutral solution. All these surface compounds must be considered specifically with a selected support in terms of an optimal strength of the interaction between precursors. The coprecipitated catalysts usually require much higher temperatures for formation of reduced noble metal (92), compared to those precipitated on a solid support, which could adversely affect the catalyst structure.

The advantages of supporting noble metal on an already preformed matrix are the better control of the catalyst structure and the usually lower temperature, which is necessary for producing dispersed reduced metal particles. Supported metal can be prepared by the addition of an aqueous solution of, for example, Pd(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, to a stirred slurry of the support in an aqueous solution of NaOH, followed by washing, drying around 110 °C and reduction in H<sub>2</sub>. The dispersion of Pd in the prepared catalyst was found to be independent of the reduction temperature up to 400 °C. SHEN and MATSUMURA (93) found that this procedure, applied to the CeO<sub>2</sub> support, led to the presence of a rather high surface concentration of Pd2+ ions, even after reduction at 500 °C. The high pH values facilitated strong interaction of the metal ions with the surface. As could be expected, the catalysts prepared with PdCl<sub>2</sub> as a precursor showed a significantly higher Pd<sup>2+</sup> concentration than those prepared from nitrate salt.

Instead of precipitation in ionic form, the metals can be reduced in close vicinity to the support surface, which is especially suitable for the production of noble metal catalysts because of their favorable reduction potentials. Thus, a metal can be directly applied onto the support by introduction of a soluble reducing agent to a suspension of support material in a solution of the active metal. As a useful example, the reduction of palladium in a complex of non-aqueous solution of the reducing agent ethanol appeared to be a slow process. Hence, the duration of this reduction could be used to control the mean particle size of the metal.

A "ship-in-bottle"-type synthesis of catalyst sites in spatially hindered cavities, described by ICHIKAWA (94), can help to increase selectivity towards gas phase of smoke. This technique was used to make Pt carbonyl clusters, nanowires, and nanoparticles in micro- and mesoporous materials that was described by FULUOKA *et al.* (95). Reductive carbonylation of metal ions impregnated in NaY

zeolite or in mesoporous silica FSM-16 selectively formed the platinum carbonyl clusters; decarbonylation of these clusters yielded 1 nm-size naked Pt nanoparticles.

Similar nanoparticles in FSM-16 were prepared by a direct H<sub>2</sub> reduction of H<sub>2</sub>PtCl<sub>6</sub>/FSM-16 at 300 °C to form 2.5 nm metal particles in 2.7 nm pores. The same diameter Pt nanowires (length 50–300 nm) were obtained by photoreduction of H<sub>2</sub>PtCl<sub>6</sub>/FSM-16 in the presence of water/isopropyl alcohol vapor. The catalysts exhibited unique properties in CO chemisorption and in WGS reaction due to their morphology in the mesoporous channels of FSM-16, which could be studied by monitoring the unusual magnetic properties of these Pt wires.

3.2.2 Catalyst promotors: In this part we will discuss several case studies of promotors to the noble metal catalysts that can beneficially control their properties that are relevant to the cigarette filter application. In most bimetal catalysts, described in the literature, the CO oxidation active area was considered to be in closest proximity to the border between the prime metal cluster and the second metal. MARGITFALVI et al. (96,97) found that the catalyst systems  $Pd^{2+}\!/Cu^{2+}, Au^+\!/Au^0$  and  $Sn^{4+}\!/Pt$  were principally the redox couples, which showed activity as long as some charge difference between two metals was maintained. CuO is readily reducible and can form different phases in the catalyst PdCu/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. COLEN et al. (98) and MERGLER et al. (99) showed a large synergetic increase in the activity of similar catalysts that they also explained in terms of the properties of the noble metal to Cu interface. KHANRA and MENON (100) showed that the content and distribution of the metal and metal oxide phases and, therefore, the catalyst properties strongly depend on the order of Pd and Cu introduction on the carrier.

Furthermore, the surface content of this bimetal particle was controlled by the presence of  ${\rm CO/H_2}$  and  ${\rm O_2}$  in the gas, which could enrich the surface with Pd and Cu respectively. This result was consistent with the adsorbate-adsorbent bonding energies, provided by ROCHEFORT and FOURNIER (101). Computational modeling suggested that CO and NO are more strongly bound to Cu atoms on Pd-Cu alloy than on pure Cu and less strongly bound to the Pd atoms on alloy than to those of pure Pd. Similar gas-solid interaction mechanisms can apply to the iron oxide on Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub>, investigated by Shou *et al.* (102). It is noteworthy that the prepared catalyst provided 70% conversion of CO at 40 °C in a flow of 15,000 h<sup>-1</sup>. The authors also obtained good results for flow rates up to 36,000 h<sup>-1</sup> by using ceria and alumina as a support for a Fe-Pt catalyst.

A synergistic promotion of CO oxidation was found for several catalyst systems, such as Pt and Pd on  $SnO_2$ ,  $Sb_2O_4$  or coprecipitated  $SnO_2+Mn_2O_3$ , which conducted the oxidation reaction under the conditions where the components alone were catalytically inert (85,96,103–105). To explain this effect we will consider two kinetic regions, which were observed during CO oxidation (46,106).

At low CO concentration the oxidation reaction appeared to be first order with respect to CO and practically temperature-independent, whereas at high CO concentrations the reaction rate was zero order with respect to CO and temperature-dependent. Synergism was usually observed for the second region or for the high CO partial pressures that seem to be

characteristic in cigarette smoke, where this pressure may reach 40 torr. The synergism in this region is believed to be driven by the oxide component of the catalyst. This suggests promotion of active catalysis on SnO<sub>2</sub>, modified by Pd via its solution with PdO (107). In support of this model, SnO<sub>2</sub> on activated carbon was found to be active towards CO binding as shown by IUKE, AL-KHATIB *et al.* (107,108) and in their earlier papers on the kinetics of CO adsorption.

Many other heteroatoms have been found to facilitate oxidation on Pt and Pd. Thus, incorporation of rubidium by KONSOLAKIS *et al.* (106) enhanced the catalytic activity of Pt by a factor of 100 in the reduction of NO by CO over Rb-promoted Pt/ $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts. The effect of K-promotion of the noble metal was found to be less pronounced (109). The observed promotional effects were ascribed to the alkali-induced changes in the chemisorption bond strengths of CO, NO and NO dissociation products.

Deposition of submonolayer quantities of Au onto a Pt surface was applied by Chandler and Pignolet (110). In the case of Pd catalysts on  $SiO_2$ , formation of Au-Pd alloys resulted in a dramatic increase in CO oxidation activity when Pd concentration exceeded 50% in the study by Venezia *et al.* (111). They showed that gold decreased the adsorption of  $O_2$  and lateral diffusion of adsorbed CO that could favorably shorten the induction period of CO oxidation in a cigarette filter at the start of a puff. The advantageous differences in catalyst activities and selectivities were attributed primarily to geometric effects.

3.2.3 Selectivity of deposition: Deposition of a metal precursor on the support can be non-selective or selective, depending on whether the interaction between noble and the second metal precursors during the deposition was prearranged. In the first case, the interaction between each precursor and solid surface must be stronger than that between precursors. The selectivity of deposition, therefore, can be controlled by surface diffusion of both metals to yield bimetallic aggregates during activation as discussed by CoQ and FIGUERAS (27). We will illustrate the principal of selective deposition with a few case studies.

Deposition by exchange of a surface ion to another metal-carrying charged species, such as Pd(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> or PdCl<sub>4</sub>K<sub>2</sub> was found by RADKEVICH *et al.* (112) to be driven by electrostatic interaction. Such an ion exchange in aqueous solutions usually yields the nano-sized particles after activation. The final dispersion of Pt on SiO<sub>2</sub>, however, strongly depends on the drying conditions, and is particularly determined by the possibility of melting of intermediate complex [Pt(NH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>(OH)<sub>2</sub>]<sub>n</sub> clusters around 100 °C as studied in detail by GOGUET *et al.* (113).

A similar ion-exchange approach was used by YANG *et al.* (114) to prepare the [AuCl<sub>4</sub>] complex on the silica, functionalized with positively charged groups. However, the authors found that the Au particles, formed upon reduction with NaBH<sub>4</sub>, showed low resistance to sintering already at 100 °C and relatively low catalytic activity. This was explained by lack of metal-support interaction (MSI) in this system that, therefore, can be improved either by strongly interacting supports or by a second metal-promotor on the same inert support.

A combination of the two above methods for preparation of Au and Pd or Pt catalysts could provide a good result. Thus,

RIAHI *et al.* (115) described how bimetallic PdAu nanoparticles located in the supercages of Y zeolite could be obtained from the co-exchange of HY zeolite with  $Pd(en)^{2+}$  and  $Au(en)_2^{3+}$ . The ethylenediamine ligand performed the *in-situ* reduction of Pd and Au in an inert atmosphere without significant sintering. Ion exchange on the surface becomes grafting in the case of organometallic complexes, which can react with surface hydroxyl groups with the removal of organic ligands like acetylacetonate, cyclopentadiene or  $\pi$ -allyl, as shown by CRABB and MARSHALL (116). Bimetallic catalysts, such as  $PtPd/Al_2O_3$  and PdCu/C, can also be prepared by using a reductant, e.g., hydrogen, which preadsorbed selectively on the parent metal. The ions of the second metal are then reduced by this reagent, and the metals interact.

A very active version of a similar zeolite-supported Pt-Fe catalyst for work in a hydrogen stream was prepared by KOTOBUKI *et al.* (55) by a conventional sequential exchange of Pt<sup>2+</sup> and Fe<sup>3+</sup> on Na-type mordenite, followed by annealing and reduction in H<sub>2</sub> at 300 °C. This catalyst demonstrated a very strong synergetic effect between Pt and Fe, thus providing selective activity at nearly ambient temperature at gas velocity of about 10<sup>5</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, or at the conditions similar to those in a cigarette filter.

# 3.3 Heterogenized homogeneous catalysts

Unlike many heterogeneous Pd catalysts that are good for CO oxidation but sensitive to deactivation by water in the reaction gas, the homogeneous PdCl<sub>2</sub>-CuCl<sub>2</sub> catalysts require water for their activity at ambient temperature. FARRAUTO and BARTHOLOMEW (117) described the Wacker processes of low-temperature oxidation of olefins, efficiently performed on a homogeneous catalyst, which was a combination of PdCl<sub>2</sub> and CuCl<sub>2</sub>. This catalyst was modified with activity-promoting additives Mo, W and V by NowINSKA *et al.* (118). In spite of the high activity at room temperature, these catalysts do not appear to be pyrophoric.

The immobilized Pd-Cu and other metal-based homogeneous oxidation catalysts were discussed systematically in an extensive review by DE Vos *et al.* (119). Typically, a heterogenized homogeneous catalyst retains its complex structure and remains active, being built in a thin film of solution spread on an inert support. Carbon has been reported to be superior to other supports for such a catalyst (120,121). This use of activated carbon remains a major obstacle for application of this type of catalyst for smoke filtration, since carbon can adversely affect the smoke taste.

The uniqueness of carbons as carriers is their hydrophobicity, since water does not fill their pores thus introducing diffusion limitations for a feed gas that must be critical for smoke. Further promotion of high catalyst activity was achieved by Wu and CHANG (122) by using even more hydrophobic porous styrene divinylbenzene copolymer. Considering a possible adverse effect of carbon on the smoke taste, use of a porous polymer could make a good substitute to carbon for use in cigarette filter.

Another advantage of the Wacker-type catalysts is that, being homogeneous complexes, they had been extensively studied and are well understood. The redox reactions, discussed by PARK and LEE (121), involved in the catalysis, are the following:

$$\begin{split} &CO + H_2O + PdCl_2 = CO_2 + 2HCl + Pd \\ &Pd + 2CuCl_2 = PdCl_2 + 2CuCl \\ &2CuCl + 2HCl + 0.5O_2 = 2CuCl_2 + H_2O \end{split}$$

WU and CHANG (122) suggested that the catalyst oxidation site consists of  $Pd^{2+}$  with chlorine and carbonyl ligands and solid  $Cu_2Cl(OH)_3$  particles. During catalysis most of  $CuCl_2$  was reduced to  $Cu^+$  species coordinated with  $Cl^-$ ,  $Pd^0$  and  $Pd^{2+}$  (123,124). Addition of  $Cu(NO_3)_2$  facilitated the formation of the active  $Cu^+$  complex and, therefore, promoted catalysis. A larger than stoichiometric amount of  $CuCl_2$  relative to  $PdCl_2$  was required for high activity of the carbon-supported catalyst.

# 4 GOLD CATALYSTS

Gold-containing catalysts have recently attracted great interest for their largely unexpected activity at below room temperatures as discussed by BOND and THOMPSON (125,126). Similar to the more traditional Pt and Pd catalysts, gold is capable of catalyzing a wide range of reactions of carbon and nitrogen oxides, water and hydrocarbons (127). Unlike most transition metals, bulk Au does not chemisorb CO at room temperature (128), whereas Au nanoparticles were found to exhibit high catalytic activity at and below room temperature (129,130). The importance of the surface steps and kinks on this dispersed gold for CO chemisorption at room temperature and its activity in its oxidation was observed by PICCOLO *et al.* (131).

The results obtained by GIORDANO and WANG *et al.* (132,133) provide comparison between adsorption and catalysis properties of rutile-supported Au, Pd, Cu and Ag, and help to position gold among catalytically active transition metals. Thus, the latter two metals (Cu, Ag) were found to interact strongly with the bridging oxygens of TiO<sub>2</sub>, donating electrons to the 3d state of Ti, whereas Au and Pd formed covalent polar bonds with the support. This similarity in the bonding properties of Au and Pd could be explained by the high ionization potential of Au (interaction with Ti without charge transfer) and also by the ability of Pd to hybridize the 4d and 5s atomic levels and to form bonds with the 3d level of Ti. Therefore, not only the strength of metal-support interaction but also its covalent nature may be important in forming the active Au or Pd catalysts.

The choice of support for gold has been found to be critical. A necessary strong metal-support interaction (SMSI) for a highly dispersed thermally stable Au catalyst was readily provided by TiO<sub>2</sub>, ZrO<sub>2</sub> or CeO<sub>2</sub> (130,134–141), but Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and other more inert supports were also used (142-144). These catalysts showed high activity at ambient temperature when basic alumina, silica and titania were used as catalyst supports, whereas the acidic supports (aluminasilica and activated carbon) resulted in much lower CO oxidation activity of gold. The other strongly interacting supports could be used in the form of freshly prepared hydroxides as was done in the case of the gold phosphine complexes. The preparation of these catalysts will be described below in more detail because the resulting catalysts demonstrated record-high activities at room temperature.

# 4.1 Mechanisms of CO oxidation

Similar to the catalysis model by DERROUICHE and BIANCHI (145) on Pt and Pd, the catalysis on Au has been described as the Langmuir-Hinshelwood-type by GOTT-FRIED and CHRISTMANN (146). The activation energy was found by MANUEL *et al.* (147) to be as low as 57 kJ/mol on the gold catalyst, which is about half of that found, for example, for Ph/Ce-Zr-O. This more flat temperature dependence of the reaction rate on Au can be beneficial for a cigarette filter application when a low-temperature active catalyst is exposed to smoke. Thus, a large exothermic effect of CO oxidation must cause some initial increase in the filter temperature. This can escalate oxidative catalysis of other molecules and an uncontrolled growth in temperature that will not happen if the activation energy of oxidation on this catalyst is low.

SCHUMACHER *et al.* (148) found that adsorption of hydrogen on Au provided competition for CO, consequently changing the order for CO from 0.35 to 0.9. This competition may impose a complication for using Au catalysts in smoke containing hydrogen and other active gas molecules. However, the situation may change when other, active or reducible, supports are used for the Au catalyst. Thus, Au/ZnO was found to be activated for CO+O<sub>2</sub> reaction by the presence of H<sub>2</sub> in the reaction gas. MANZOLI *et al.* (149) suggested that hydrogen could prevent poisoning of the catalyst by suppressing the formation of stable carbonate-like species on the metal oxide at ambient temperature.

A similar carbonate mechanism of deactivation was suggested for the water-gas shift (WGS) reaction on Au/CeO<sub>2</sub>, where partially reduced Ce<sup>3+</sup> facilitated formation and deposition of carbonates and formates on active sites (135,150,151). Sensitivity of the supported gold catalyst to this poisoning activity of CO can be controlled by transition metal additives, such as Fe and Mn for the Au/MgO catalyst, as shown by MARGITFALVI *et al.* (152). In the case of tobacco smoke, a tiny amount of Fe in it could even be a promotor of gold catalysts in the filter.

Another useful property of gold catalysts is that the presence of water on the surface of some gold catalysts can strongly promote their activity by actually creating the active sites. This active site was found by Costello, Kung et al. (142–144) to be a metallic Au cluster and a cationic Au with a hydroxyl group. The active Au/Au $^{+}$  redox couple helped to explain why heat treatment of uncalcined Au/Al $_2$ O $_3$  at 100  $^{\circ}$ C in the humid hydrogen atmosphere activated the catalyst by creating mixed Au states, whereas H $_2$  or H $_2$ O alone did not provide such activation.

4.1.1 State of metal clusters: Gold catalysts, such as Au/TiO<sub>2</sub>, are characterized by a strong metal-support interaction and by the presence of the perimeter interfaces between Au particles and the support (142) that are controlled by the preparation conditions, as discussed by HARUTA and DATE (153). Thus, it makes a difference for the state of Au cluster whether it is positioned on the oxidized surface or on the oxygen vacancies of TiO<sub>2</sub>. In the latter case, considered by LOPEZ and NORSKOV (136), electron transfer from Au particle to the TiO<sub>2</sub> surface caused geometric changes in metal particles.

The influence of SMSI on the parameters of metal clusters increased at low coverages of  ${\rm TiO_2}$  with Au, which correlated with unusually high dispersion and catalytic activity of nanoscale gold catalysts. An opposite electron transfer from  ${\rm TiO_2}$  to Au was found experimentally in Au/ ${\rm TiO_2}$  with high Au loading (137). This promoted chemisorption of oxygen on an excessive negative charge. Interestingly, pre-chemisorption of hydrogen, possibly protonated on the surface, can also activate Au/ ${\rm TiO_2}$  for CO oxidation (145) and may help in keeping the catalyst active in  ${\rm H_2}$ -containing smoke.

A completely disordered layer of chemisorbed CO at sub-ambient temperatures was found by GOTTFRIED *et al.* (154). This suggested that the previously discussed oscillation-type behavior, characteristic of Pd and Pt catalysts, should not be the same for Au catalysts. However, CO pressures above 20 mbar were found to cause a surface reconstruction of Au particles (128). This CO concentration is typical of cigarette smoke and makes the consideration of such a low-temperature displacement of Au atoms and destabilization of the surface structure important.

COSTELLO, KUNG *et al.* (142) concluded that CO<sub>2</sub> forms from decarboxylation of either hydroxycarbonyl, or bicarbonate surface structure on the Au<sup>+</sup>/Au site, stabilized by hydroxyl groups. This model successfully explained several key features of Au catalyst performance, i.e., reversible deactivation at dehydration or overoxidation of gold particles. According to this model, an attempt to form the catalyst above 100 °C, especially, in the presence of O<sub>2</sub> must fail, because such treatment would destroy the active site Au<sup>+</sup>-OH (130).

The presence of strong ligands, including water in the reaction gas, can stabilize  $\mathrm{Au^+}$  complexes in  $\mathrm{Au/M(OH)_x}$  catalysts (138,152). Thus, the  $\mathrm{Au/Fe(OH)_3}$  and  $\mathrm{Au/Ti(OH)_4}$  catalysts remained active in the low-temperature CO oxidation after calcination much above 200 °C. The authors, however, stated that  $\mathrm{O_2}$  activation was exclusively performed on the gold particles, whereas involvement of support in this process was ruled out. This conclusion seems to be debatable, because other studies show an active role of reducible oxide supports in the oxygen activation process, while it is generally agreed that CO adsorption on the support may be insignificant (155).

4.1.2 Composition of active site: The composition of the CO chemisorption site including Au<sup>n+</sup> and Au<sup>0</sup> as well as the boundary of Au particles on a variety of supports was proposed based on spectral analysis (156,157). Several CO adsorption forms were experimentally detected on the supported Au catalysts with the desorption energies from 8 to 38 kJ/mol (154). The inclusion of Au<sup>n+</sup> in the active site has been debated by GOOSSENS *et al.* (158). The authors did not observe Au ions in the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> undergoing catalysis by Mossbauer spectroscopy. However, this may not contradict the more common model of randomly distributed Au<sup>+</sup>containing active sites, since this method could not detect concentrations as low as 0.001% of possibly working and unstable Au<sup>+</sup> in the catalyst (139,156).

The active site that involves the boundary of Au particles and support was discussed by BOCCUZZI et al. (140). The reversible adsorption of CO on Au particles, irreversible adsorption of  $O_2$  at the perimeter interface with formation of superoxide  $O_2^-$  as a rate-determining step and the fast formation of the OC-Au-O intermediate to produce  $O_2$  on the perimeter

interface were reported. The formation of peroxide and hydroxide oxygen on ZrO<sub>2</sub> and TiO<sub>2</sub> from atomic oxygen, activated by Au particles, and their reactions with CO/Au to form surface formates were studied in (141,159,160).

In agreement with this, CHANG *et al.* (161) showed that the adsorption of CO and  $O_2$  on the working Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst was not competitive and  $O_2$  activation was conducted by the support. Therefore the experimentally observed superoxide species on both metal and support in the Au/Ti(OH)<sub>4</sub> system studied by HAO *et al.* (162) could only be explained by  $O_2^-$  diffusion on the Au particles. In contrast, the  $O_2^-$  species were found to result from  $O_2$  interaction with electrons trapped on the missing oxygen sites, or on the  $Ti^{3+}$  centers. Molecular orbital calculations almost excluded a possibility of  $O_2^-$  formation from  $O_2$  on the Au cluster, but rather suggested  $O_2^-$  formation on and from  $TiO_2$ , followed by surface diffusion on gold.

Such support reduction was found to be promoted by Au particles, so that for example, the temperature of  $CeO_2$  reduction decreased by almost 300 °C when Au was imbedded (163,164). In contrast to the reducible oxides, in the case of  $SiO_2$  as a support, the  $O_2$  chemisorption on and under the Au surface was a main source of active oxygen (132,165) that appears to be a rate-limiting reaction. As a result, the turnover number (rate of surface reaction) can be independent of the Au particle size for active supports like  $CeO_2$ ,  $TiO_2$ ,  $Fe_2O_3$ ; whereas for the "inert" supports the turnover number is dependent on particle size (111,164).

4.1.3 Different supports for gold: Large amounts of molecular  $O_2$  can be adsorbed and activated on  $Fe_2O_3$ ,  $NiO_x$ ,  $CoO_x$  and ZnO (164,166–168), and this could provide an oxygen supply during the reaction on Au catalysts under smoking conditions. Among these the ZnO-supported catalyst was found to be tolerant to water in the reaction gas (168). For these supports the authors suggested a similar dominant reaction pathway involving adsorption of  $O_2$  on the support in  $O_2^-$  form, dissociation at the interface, and reaction on the Au particle and/or at the interface with CO on Au.

Usually the addition of zirconia to ceria increased the oxygen storage capacity, as well as reducibility and oxygen mobility in support as investigated by Kozlov *et al.* (169). Bulgakov *et al.* (170) explained this phenomenon by a decrease in the local Ce-O coordination number from 8 to 7 with ZrO<sub>2</sub> addition. A further improvement of the individual or mixed oxides could be their support on more stable non-reducible oxides with a developed pore structure. For example, an additional benefit from using CeO<sub>2</sub> on Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> as a support for gold was studied by Centeno *et al.* (171). It was shown that ceria enhances the final dispersion and thermostability of Au particles.

We believe that the molecular sieves are attractive for smoke treatment because they must be selective towards the gas phase. Preparation of Au in Y-type zeolite was developed by LIN *et al.* (172,173). Prior to incorporation of Au, the zeolite was treated with NaNO<sub>3</sub> solution at pH 6, which ultimately increased the activity and stability of the catalyst. However, application of a relatively low surface area zeolite may impose a limitation on the concentration of Au in catalyst, because excessive gold may form large particles of a low activity on exterior surface, which are prone to sintering (173).

These catalysts were promoted by incorporation of Fe in zeolite along with Au by BULUSHEV et al. (174). The catalyst design could be similar to that described above for Au on reducible oxide, except the active Au-Fe-O groups were built in the zeolite cavities. The authors found that along with a higher activity the catalysts with iron demonstrated lower long-term stability, probably because of sintering of the reduced metal and/or deposition of carbonate-like species. However, considering the short catalysis time required in a cigarette filter application, this may not be a critical obstacle. TIBILETTI et al. (16) found that iron incorporation into the Au catalyst on carbon fibers instead, resulted in a significant increase in both initial activity and stability of Au particles in catalysis. This catalyst type may work better in the presence of water and hydrogen and that would be preferable for smoke applications.

# 4.2 Preparation of catalysts

Among a variety of methods for preparation of highly dispersed Au catalysts, we will highlight several procedures, developed in more detail for Au on an active/reducible support, which usually form more active catalysts than the non-reducible carriers (175,176). Although alumina and silica were reported by IVANOVA *et al.* (177) to form very active gold catalysts, we do not discuss their preparation here as they are less likely candidates for a cigarette filter application at present.

The preparation techniques can be summed-up as a coprecipitation of HAuCl $_4$  and a second metal salt, deposition-precipitation-reduction of Au compound on support, and chemical vapor deposition procedure consisting of adsorption and decomposition of gold complexes onto metal oxide. These methods have been developed for preparation of 1–5 nm size Au particles, resistant to sintering and active in catalysis at temperatures around ambient (151,178). The other, less extensively used precipitation technique was a solgel method, which also produced 2.5 nm Au clusters in 74 m $^2$  TiO $_2$  matrix, active at temperatures as low as 50 °C (179). In many cases, the catalyst precursors were calcined at high temperatures (up to 800 °C) to strengthen the metal-support interaction, for example, in Au/TiO $_2$  catalysts prepared by a spray method (180).

A similar Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> (181) catalyst, which showed high activity at room temperature, was prepared by a deposition-reduction method, where an aqueous solution of HAuCl<sub>4</sub> was adsorbed on the support and reduced by NaBH<sub>4</sub>. The higher pH of the AuCl<sub>3</sub> solution (up to 10.5) gave LIN *et al.* (182) better results because of facilitating formation of the surface ensembles Au-O-Au. The solid was calcined around 200 °C that provided a delicate balance between Au<sup>0</sup> and Au<sup>+</sup>-OH<sup>-</sup> as an active site for CO oxidation, as also was recently suggested by PILLAI and DEEVI (130) for the CeO<sub>2</sub>-supported gold.

However, the balance could be easily disrupted both by over-reduction of gold, as well as by its excessive oxidation, which is in agreement with the findings on Au/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts by WANG *et al.* (183). In agreement with the calcination step, which only decreased the activity of Au/TiO<sub>2</sub>. Remarkably, they also found that the wet impregnation of TiO<sub>2</sub> with HAuO<sub>4</sub> and complexation with NH<sub>3</sub>, produced a similarly active catalyst for CO oxidation below 25 °C.

The mixed Au<sup>+</sup>/Au<sup>0</sup> active sites were developed for a differently prepared Au/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst (87,185). Co-precipitation by Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> from aqueous solution of HAuCl<sub>4</sub> and Fe(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> produced a very active and stable catalyst. It is noteworthy that unlike the above-mentioned sol-gel catalysts, these samples exhibited poor activity after calcination at 400 °C for 3 h whereas uncalcined materials, which were only dried at 120 °C for 16 h, exhibited a far greater activity. The dried materials consisted of uniformly dispersed assembles of a mixed AuOOH  $\times$  xH<sub>2</sub>O and Au<sup>0</sup>, whereas the calcined materials were comprised of 3–5 nm cuboctahedral metallic Au particles supported on 20 nm diameter well-crystalline  $\alpha$ -Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> particles.

The effect of gold on the properties of the support was usually found to be beneficial. In addition to the electronic interactions, HUTCHINGS *et al.* (186) reported that the presence of Au in the co-precipitated Au/CuO and Au/ZnO samples suppressed crystallization of the supports. A similar phenomenon was assumed in the cases of the just precipitated Fe(OH)<sub>3</sub> and Ti(OH)<sub>4</sub> supports. Interestingly, the process of Au crystal growth was found not to be completely thermo-activated, but to have a point of stability at the atomic level, so that some particular size Au cluster may become more energetic and more active than its atomic precursor (187).

The dispersion and resistance of Au clusters to the thermal sintering were found to be determined by the supporting crystalline surfaces. The  ${\rm TiO_2}$  (1 × 1) and (1 × 2) surface structures were found to promote growth of 3 and 0.1 nm Au particles, respectively. Those metal clusters were found to be stable up to 460 °C (137). The problem with Au agglomeration in such catalysts was essentially solved by using a  ${\rm TiO_2/SiO_2}$  substrate instead of pure titania (188), which stabilized 2–3 nm Au clusters and consequently increased the catalyst activity.

Many published studies have focused on application of phosphine complexes of gold as on the unique precursors of ultimately fine Au clusters. Phosphine as a ligand was found to inhibit the formation of large Au<sup>0</sup> particles because of its high ligating affinity (189). A method for the preparation of exceptionally active, supported Au catalysts involves the use of as-precipitated wet amorphous metal hydroxides as support precursors for the incorporation of the AuPPh<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> complex precursor from organic media (160,190). In AuPPh<sub>2</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> coordination, the nitrate anion bond is much weaker than that of the triphenylphosphine ligand, hence the release of the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-ligand from the complex AuPPh<sub>3</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> on Fe(OH)<sub>3</sub> and Ti(OH)<sub>4</sub> was done at room temperature. A subsequent temperature-programmed calcination in air at 400 °C finally produced 3% Au/M(OH)<sub>x</sub> catalyst, active at room temperature (190).

A catalyst less critical to the state of support, but with about the same activity was prepared by Choudhary *et al.* (191). The authors applied another gold complex  $[Au_6(PPh_3)_6](BF_4)_2$ , which formed gold clusters of 5 nm size on the surface of titania.  $TiO_2$  was calcined at  $500\,^{\circ}C$  prior to interaction with a  $CH_2Cl_2$  solution of a gold complex. This catalyst was more stable than the one obtained from a gold nitrate complex. To conclude this discussion we will just mention that the gold heterogeneous catalysts are still relatively new and provide many problems to study. Some important features of them along with the references are collected in Table 3.

Table 3. Parameters affecting catalysis on Au catalysts; comparison with Pd and Pt catalysts

| Subject               | Essentials   | References               |
|-----------------------|--|--------------------------|
| Au, compare to Pd, Pt | Bonding of Au on TiO <sub>2</sub> is similar to that of Pd                                     | 132, 133                 |
|                       | Rate oscillations on Au are similar to that of Pd, Pt  | 128                      |
|                       | Activation energy on Au is much lower than on Pd   | 147                      |
| Supports and ligands  | Pros and cons of Au on CeO <sub>2</sub> , Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> , zeolite and C       | 168, 171–174             |
|                       | Basic supports give stronger MSI and better activity   | 128, 134, 145            |
|                       | SMSI in Au/TiO <sub>2</sub> is greater at low Au loading                                       | 137, 142, 153            |
|                       | Strong ligands stabilize Au dispersion   | 138, 142                 |
|                       | Preparation of Au/TiO <sub>2</sub> -type catalysts   | 30, 31, 33, 36, 141, 182 |
|                       | Preparation of Au/Fe <sub>x</sub> O <sub>y</sub> catalysts                                     | 12, 87, 183–185          |
|                       | Detrimental effect of Cl <sup>2</sup> on catalyst activity                                     | 139                      |
|                       | PH <sub>3</sub> ligand and complexes in catalyst preparation                                   | 160, 190, 191            |
| Catalysis             | Active species on ZrO <sub>2</sub> and TiO <sub>2</sub> are OH and O <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> | 141, 160, 162            |
| -                     | H <sub>2</sub> and water are beneficial for CO oxidation on Au                                 | 135, 146, 148, 149       |
|                       | Water promotes Au/Au+ active site for CO oxidation   | 139, 142–144, 154, 156   |

Table 4. Potential application of the Au, Pd and Pt catalysts in smoke

| Smoke application of the catalysts   | Supporting references |
|--|-----------------------|
| Advantages   |                       |
| Usually Pd is more poison-resistant than Pt; and Co or Mo make this resistance even better; examples of transition metal catalysts for smoke   | 37–39, 192            |
| Addition of Fe promotes the Pd, Pt and Au for work in the presence of H <sub>2</sub>   | 77, 78, 152           |
| Synergism in binary oxide support, e.g., CeO <sub>2</sub> +PdO, increases the initial oxygen mobility, which is beneficial for puffing regime  | 43, 44                |
| Oscillations of the CO oxidation rate on Pd and Au catalysts may help to expend the catalysis beyond a 2-s puff by first collecting CO and then oxidizing it                                     | 128, 154              |
| The amount of "subsurface" oxygen may be enough for oxidation of one-puff CO   | 81–83                 |
| Molecular sieves (zeolites, clays), along with the "ship-in-bottle" technique, may help to improve selectivity in smoke  | 88, 89, 95            |
| The temperature dependence of catalysis on Au is less steep than on Pd, Pt that can be beneficial for using the Au catalysts in the filter cavity  | 145–147               |
| CO can be temporarily adsorbed within a puff and released between puffs, or oxidized at higher temperatures that can decrease the necessary amount of adsorbent/catalyst by a factor of 10       | 7, 14, 15             |
| The Wacker catalysts PdCl <sub>2</sub> +CuCl <sub>2</sub> on carbon efficiently work in water vapor at room temperature  | 117–121               |
| Complications  |                       |
| Establishing the "working" chemisorption equilibrium of CO and $O_2$ on Pd and Pt catalysts could be too slow for the filter application   | 10, 54, 60            |
| Oscillations of the CO oxidation rate may cause a slow surface reconstruction to limit the cigarette filter application  | 54, 60–67             |
| Enabling the "subsurface" to participate in CO oxidation could also be too slow  | 161, 165              |
| Oxidation rate on Au showed greater order in respect to CO in the presence of H <sub>2</sub> that may complicate its use in smoke, which contains much of reducing compounds along with hydrogen | 148, 149              |
| The Wacker catalysts can provide an adverse effect of carbon support on the smoke taste; however, should be substituted with some polymer, e.g., porous styrene divinylbenzene resin             | 118–122               |

# CONCLUSIONS

Many compounds in smoke are capable of oxidizing  $(O_2, H_2O, NO_x, SO_2)$  or hydrogenating  $(H_2, hydrocarbons)$  CO on similar catalysts, necessitating the collection and analysis of the world literature data in this area. The present review is limited to the catalytic oxidation of CO with respect to a few problems provided by the nature of tobacco smoke. The complexity of the kinetics of this process in the presence of highly reactive gaseous compounds in smoke, together with the particulate phase would be stressed by the high flow rate of a pulse stream through the catalyst bed and the large concentration gradients that exist inside a burning cigarette.

The state of active oxygen and carbon oxides on Pd and Au catalysts, mechanisms of their activation, role of support, its interaction with the transition metal clusters, role of interface area between them, transfer and storage of oxygen for CO oxidation reaction, catalyst promotors and the methods of preparation of the most active and selective catalysts have been reviewed.

The conclusions about the basic advantages and complications in using the Au, Pd and Pt catalysts in the cigarette filter are listed in Table 4. The results, referred in this Table and the discussed above catalysis approaches, can lead to a relatively easily solution in the part of low-temperature catalyst activity. However, the greatest challenge seems to be a particular phase-exclusive selectivity that would not contradict with the necessary fast diffusion of gases through the catalyst pores. Much more work is also required to stabilize high activity of the in-air packed catalyst to provide a necessary shelf life for a cigarette.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

Thanks are due to Dr. Carr J. Smith and Dr. Christine A. Little for useful discussions.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Snytnikov, P.V., V.A. Sobianin, V.D. Belyaev, B.G. Tsyrulnikov, N.B. Shitova and D.A. Shlyapin: Selective oxidation of carbon monoxide in excess hydrogen over Pt-, Ru- and Pd-supported catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 239 (2003) 149–156.
- Farrauto, R.J. and R.M. Heck: Environmental catalysis into the 21<sup>st</sup> century; Catal. Today 55 (2000) 179–187.
- 3. Centi, G., P. Ciambelli, S. Perathoner and P. Russo: Environmental catalysis: trends and outlook; Catal. Today 75 (2002) 3–15.
- 4. Rodgman, A. and C.R. Green: Toxic chemicals in cigarette mainstream smoke Hazard and hoopla; Beitr. Tabakforsch. Int. 20 (2003) 481–545.
- Lee, J.S., E.D. Park, and B.J. Song: Process development for low temperature CO oxidation in the presence of water and halogen compounds; Catal. Today 54 (1998) 57–64.
- Baker, R.R.: Formation of carbon oxides during tobacco combustion. Pyrolysis studies in the presence of isotopic gases to elucidate reaction sequence; J. Anal. Appl. Pyrol. 4 (1993) 297–334.
- 7. Li, P., D.E. Miser, S. Rabiei, R.T. Yadav, and M.R. Hajaligol: The removal of carbon monoxide by iron oxide nanoparticles; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 43 (2003) 151–162.
- 8. Dyakonov, A.J.: Abatement of CO from relatively simple and complex mixtures. II. Oxidation on Pd-Cu/C catalysts; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 45 (2003) 257–267
- 9. Sirijaruphan, A., J.G. Goodwin, Jr, R.W. Rice, D. Wei, K.R. Butcher, G.W. Roberts, and J.J. Spivey: Metal foam supported Pt catalysts for the selective oxidation of CO in hydrogen; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 281 (2005) 1–9.
- Ahluwalia, R.K., Q.Z. Zhang, D.J. Cmielewski, K.C. Lauzze, and M.A. Inbody: Performance of CO preferential oxidation reactor with noble metal catalyst coated on ceramic monolith for on-board fuel processing application; Catal. Today 99 (2005) 271–283.
- Wang, J.B., D.H. Tsai, and T.J. Huang: Synergistic catalysis of carbon monoxide oxidation over copper oxide supported on samaria-doped ceria; J. Catal. 208 (2002) 370–380.
- 12. Wu, K.C., Y.L. Tung, Y.L. Chen, and Y.W. Chen: Catalytic oxidation of carbon monoxide over gold/iron hydroxide catalyst at ambient conditions; Appl. Catal.

- B: Environ. 53 (2004) 111–116.
- 13. Okumura, M., N. Masuyama, E. Konishi, S. Ichikawa, and T. Akita: CO oxidation below room temperature over Ir/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst prepared by deposition precipitation method; J. Catal. 208 (2002) 485.
- Li, P., F. Rasouli, and M.R. Hajaligol: Application of nanoparticle iron oxide in cigarette for simultaneous CO and NO removal in the mainstream smoke; Beitr. Tabakforsch. Int. 21 (2004) 1–8.
- 15. Reddy, B. V., F. Rasouli, M. R. Hajaligol, and S. N. Khanna: Novel pathway for CO oxidation on a Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> cluster; Chem. Phys. Letters 384(4-6) (2004) 242–245.
- Tibiletti, D., E.A. Bart de Graaf, S.P. Teh, G. Rothenberg, D. Farrusseng, and C. Mirodatos: Selective CO oxidation in the presence of hydrogen: fast parallel screening and mechanistic studies on ceria-based catalysts; J. Catal. 225 (2004) 489–497.
- Avgouropoulos, G., T. Ioannides, Ch. Papadopoulou, J. Batista, S. Hocevar, and H.K. Matralis: A comparative study of Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Au/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and CuO-CeO<sub>2</sub> catalysts for the selective oxidation of carbon monoxide in excess hydrogen; Catal. Today 75 (2002) 157
- 18. Avgouropoulos, G. and T. Ionnides: Selective CO oxidation over CuO-CeO<sub>2</sub> catalysts prepared via the urea-nitrate combustion method; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 244 (2003) 155–167.
- Zhang, W.J., S. PalDey, and S. Deevi: Effect of moisture on the active species in Cu-CeO<sub>2</sub> catalyst; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 295 (2005) 201–208.
- 20. Deevi, S. and S. PalDey: Nanocomposite copper-ceria catalysts for low temperature or new-ambient temperature catalysis and methods for making such catalysts; US Patent 6857431, 2005.
- Zhang, S.M., W.P. Huang, X.H. Qiu, B.Q. Li, X.C. Zheng, and S.H. Wu: Comparative study on catalytic properties for low-temperature CO oxidation on Cu/CeO<sub>2</sub> and CuO/CeO<sub>2</sub> prepared via solvated metal atom impregnation and conventional impregnation; Catal. Lett. 80 (2002) 41–46.
- 22. Broqvist, P., I. Panas, and H. Person: A DRT study on CO oxidation over  $Co_3O_4$ ; J. Catal. 210 (2002) 198–206.
- 23. Kang, M., M.W. Song, and C.H. Lee: Catalytic carbon monoxide oxidation over CoOx/CeO<sub>2</sub> composite catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 251 (2003) 143–156.
- 24. Park, J.W., J.H. Jeong, W.L Yoon, H. Jung, H.T. Lee, D.K. Lee, Y.K. Park, and Y.W. Rhee: Activity and characterization of the Co-promoted Cu-CeO $_2$ / $\gamma$ -Al $_2$ O $_3$  catalyst for the selective oxidation of CO in excess hydrogen; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 274 (2004) 25–32.
- 25. Keggi, J.J.: Improved water gas shift process; UK Patent 1201623, 1970.
- 26. Utaka, T., T.R. Kikuchi, and K. Eguchi: CO removal from reformed fuels over Cu and precious catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 246 (2003) 117–124.
- 27. Coq, B. and F. Figueras: Bimetallic palladium catalysts: influence of the co-metal on the catalyst performance; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 173 (2001) 117–134.
- 28. Toebes, M. L., J. A. van Dillen, and K. P. de Jong: Synthesis of supported palladium catalysts; J. Molec.

- Catal. A: Chem. 173 (2001) 75-98.
- 29. Stakheev, A.Y. and L.M. Kustov: Effects of the support on the morphology and electronic properties of supported metal clusters: modern concepts and progress in 1990s; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 188 (1998) 3–35.
- Leontiou, A.A., A.K. Lavados, G.S. Armatas, P.N. Trikalitis, and P.J. Pomonis: Kinetics investigation of NO+CO reaction on La-Sr-Mn-O perovskite-type mixed oxides; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 263 (2004) 227–239.
- 31. Dai, H., H. He, P. Li, L. Gau, and C.T. Au: The relationship of structural effect-redox property-catalytic performance of perovskites and their related compounds for CO and NO<sub>x</sub> removal; Catal. Today 90 (2004) 231–244.
- 32. PalDey, S., S. Gedevanishvili, W. Zhang, and F. Rasouli: Evaluation of a spinel based pigment system as a CO oxidation catalyst; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 56-3 (2005) 241–250.
- 33. Wang, A., L. Ma, Y. Cong, T. Zhang, and D. Liang: Unique properties of Ir/ZSM-5 catalyst for NO reduction with CO in the presence of excess oxygen; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 40 (2003) 319–329.
- 34. Villani, K., R. Brosius, and J.A. Martens: Catalytic carbon oxidation over Ag/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>; J. Catal. 236 (2005) 172–175.
- 35. Zhdanov, V.P.: Mechanism and kinetics of the NO-CO reaction on Rh; Surface Science Reports 29 (1997) 31–90.
- 36. Salem, I.: Recent studies on the catalytic activity of titanium, zirconium and hafnium oxides; Catal. Rev. Sci. and Eng. 45-2 (2003) 405–496.
- 37. Luo, T., J.M. Vohs, and R.J. Gorte: An examination of sulfur poisoning on Pd/Ceria catalysts; J. Catal. 210 (2002) 397–404.
- 38. Centi, G.: Supported palladium catalysts in environmental catalytic technologies for gaseous emissions; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 173 (2001) 287–312.
- 39. Albers, P., J. Pietsch, and S.F. Parker: Poisoning and deactivation of palladium catalysts; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 173 (2001) 275–286.
- 40. Bi, Y. and G. Lu: Catalytic CO oxidation over palladium supported NaZSM-5 catalysts; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 41 (2003) 279–286.
- 41. Wootsch, A., C. Descorme, and D. Duprez: Preferential oxidation of carbon monoxide in the presence of hydrogen (PROX) over ceria-zirconia and alumina-supported Pt catalysts; J. Catal. 225 (2004) 259–266.
- 42. Ramaker, D.E., J. de Graaf, J.A.R. van Veen, and D.C. Koningsberger: Nature of the metal-support interaction in supported Pt catalysts: Shift in Pt valence orbital energy and charge rearrangement; J. Catal. 203 (2001) 7–17.
- 43. Damyanova, S., C.A. Perez, M. Schmal, and J.M.C. Bueno: Characterization of ceria-coated alumina carrier; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 234 (2002) 271–282.
- 44. Zhu, H., Z. Qin, W. Shan, W. Shen, and J. Wang: Pd/CeO<sub>2</sub>-TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst for CO oxidation at low temperature: TPR study with H<sub>2</sub> and CO as reducing agents; J. Catal. 225 (2004) 267–277.

- 45. Uner, D., N.A. Tapan, I. Ozen, and M. Uner: Oxygen adsorption on Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 251 (2003) 225–234.
- 46. Ertl, G.: Nonlinear dynamics: Oscillatory kinetics and spatio-temporal pattern formation; *in:* Handbook on Heterogeneous Catalysis, Vol. 3, edited by G. Ertl, H. Knozinger, and J. Weitkamp, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 1997, pp. 1032–1051.
- 47. Ma, Z.Y., C. Yang, W. Wei, W.H. Li, and Y.H. Sun: Surface properties and CO adsorption on zirconia polymorphs; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 227 (2005) 119–124.
- 48. Iida, H. and A. Igarashi: Characterization of a  $Pt/TiO_2$  (rutile) catalyst for water gas shift reaction at low temperature; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 298 (2006) 152–160.
- 49. Klie, R.F., M.M. Disko, and N.D. Browning: Atomic scale observations of the chemistry at the metal-oxide interface in heterogeneous catalysts; J. Catal. 205 (2002) 1–6.
- 50. Weng, L.T. and B. Delmon: Phase cooperation and remote control effects in selective oxidation catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 81 (1992) 141–213.
- 51. Mirkelamoglu, B. and G. Karakas: CO oxidation over platinum- and sodium-promoted tin oxide: catalyst characterization and temperature-programmed studies; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 281 (2005) 275–284.
- 52. Gurda, G. and T. Hahn: The oxidation of carbon monoxide on platinum-supported binary oxide catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 192 (2000) 51–55.
- 53. Bourane, A. and D. Bianchi: Oxidation of CO on a Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst: From the surface elementary steps to light-off tests. III. Experimental and kinetic model for light-off tests in excess CO; J. Catal. 209 (2002) 126–134.
- 54. Hoebink, J.H.B.J., J.P. Huinink, and G.B. Marin: A quantitative analysis of transient kinetic experiments: The oxidation of CO by O<sub>2</sub> over Pt; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 160 (1997) 139–151.
- 55. Kotobuki, M., A. Watanabe, H. Uchida, H. Yamashita, and M. Watanabe: Reaction mechanism of preferential oxidation of carbon monoxide on Pt, Fe, and Pt-Fe/mordenite catalysts; J. Catal. 236 (2005) 262–269.
- Schmal, M., M.A.S. Baldanza, and M.A. Vannice: PdxMo/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts for NO reduction by CO; J. Catal. 185 (1999) 138–151.
- 57. Fernandez-Garcia, M., A. Martinez-Arias, C. Belver, J.A. Anderson, J.C. Conesa, and J. Soria: Behavior of palladium-copper catalysts for CO and NO elimination; J. Catal. 190 (2000) 387–395.
- 58. Gadgil, M.M. and S.K. Kulshreshta: CO oxidation over Pd/FeSbO<sub>4</sub> catalyst; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 95 (1995) 211–222.
- Kapoor, M.P., A. Raj, and Y. Matsumura: Methanol decomposition over supported mesoporous CeO<sub>2</sub>-ZrO<sub>2</sub> mixed oxides; Micropor. Mesopor. Mater. 44-5 (2001) 565–572.
- 60. Guerrero-Ruiz, A., S. Yang, Q. Xin, A. Maroto-Valiente, M. Benito-Gonzalez, and I. Rodriguez-Ramos: Comparative study by infrared spectroscopy and microcalorimetry of the CO adsorption over

- supported palladium catalysts; Langmuir 16 (2000) 8100–8106.
- 61. Tsou, J., P. Magnoux, M. Guinset, J.J.M. Orfao, and J.L. Figueredo: Oscillations in the catalytic oxidation of volatile organic compounds; J. Catal. 225 (2004) 147–154.
- 62. Tappe, W., U. Korte, and G. Meyer-Ehmsen: RHED structure analysis of the oscillatory catalytic oxidation at Pt (110) surfaces; Surf. Sci. 338 (1997) 162–176.
- 63. Granger, P., J.J. Lecomte, L. Leclercq, and G. Leclercq: Kinetics of the CO+O<sub>2</sub> reaction over three-way Pt-Rh catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 217 (2001) 257–267.
- 64. Fanson, P.T., W.N. Deglass, and J. Lauterbach: Island formation during kinetic rate oscillations in the oxidation of CO over Pt/SiO<sub>2</sub>: A transient Fourier transform infrared study; J. Catal. 204 (2001) 35–52.
- 65. Kurkina, E.S. and N.L. Semendyaeva: Fluctuation-induced transitions and oscillations in catalytic CO oxidation; Surf. Sci. 558 (2004) 112–134.
- 66. Zhdanov, V.P. and B. Kasemo: Simulation of kinetic oscillations in the CO+O<sub>2</sub>/Pt reaction on nm scale; J. Catal. 214 (2003) 121–129.
- 67. Yan, C.C.S., W.T. Chuang, A. Chaudhari, and S.L. Lee: Lattice model studies of CO oxidation kinetic oscillation over nano-scaled Pt particle: Effect of temperature variation and diffusion; Appl. Surf. Sci. 252 (2005) 784–792.
- 68. Baily, C.J., M. Surman, and A.E. Russell: Investigation of the CO induced lifting of the (1×2) reconstruction on Pt{110} using synchrotron far-infrared RAIRS; Surf. Sci. 523 (2003) 111–117.
- Lund, C.D., C.M. Surko, M.B. Maple, and S.Y. Yamamoto: Model discrimination in oscillatory CO oxidation on platinum catalysts at atmospheric pressure; Surf. Sci. 479 (2000) 413–425.
- Gorodetskii, V.V. and W. Drachsel: Kinetic oscillations and surface waves in catalytic CO+O<sub>2</sub> reaction on Pt surface. Field electron microscope, field ion microscope and high-resolution electron energy loss studies; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 188 (1998) 267–275.
- Lucas, C.A., N.M. Markovic, M. Ball, V. Stamenkovoc, V. Climent, and P.N. Ross: Surface structure, and relaxation during the oxidation of carbon monoxide on Pt-Pd; Surf. Sci. 479 (2001) 241–246.
- 72. Gruyters, M., T. Ali, and D.A. King: Theoretical inquiry into the microscopic origins of the oscillatory CO oxidation reaction on Pt{100}; J. Phys. Chem. 100 (1996) 14417–14423.
- 73. Bourane, A. and D. Bianchi: Oxidation of CO on a Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalyst: from the surface elementary steps to light-off tests. I. Kinetic Study of the Oxidation of the Linear CO Species; J. Catal. 202 (2001) 34–44.
- 74. Cimino, A. and F.S. Stone: Oxide solid solutions as catalysts; Adv. Catal. 47 (2000) 141–306.
- 75. Boaro, M., F. Giordano, S. Recchia, V.D. Santo, M. Giona, and A. Trovarlli: On the mechanism of fast oxygen storage and release in ceria-zirconia model catalysts; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 52 (2004) 225–237.
- 76. Liu, X., O. Korotkikh, and R. Farrauto: Selective catalytic oxidation of CO in H<sub>2</sub>: structural study of Fe

- oxide-promoted Pt/alumina catalyst; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 226 (2002) 293–303.
- Sirijaruphan, A., Jr. J.G. Goodwin, and R.W. Rice: Effect of Fe promotion on the surface reaction parameters of Pt/γ-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for the selective oxidation of CO; J. Catal. 224 (2004) 304–131.
- 78. Berndt, M. and P. Landri: An overview about Engelhard approach to non-standard environmental catalysis; Catal. Today 75 (2002) 17–22.
- Savio, L., M. Vattuone, L. Rocca, F. Buatier de Mongeot, G. Comelli, A. Baraldi, S. Lizzit, and G. Paolucci: Formation of channels for oxygen migration towards subsurface sites by CO oxidation and growth of the surface oxide phase on Ag(001); Surf. Sci. 506 (2002) 213–222.
- 80. Qu, Z., M. Cheng, W. Huang, and X. Bao: Formation of sub-surface oxygen species an its high activity toward CO oxidation over silver catalysts; J. Catal. 229 (2005) 446–458.
- 81. Kim, S., R. Merkle, and J. Maier: Oxygen non-stoichiometry of nanosized ceria powder; Surf. Sci. 549 (2004) 196–202.
- 82. Zhao, Q., X. Wang, and T. Cai: The study of surface properties of ZrO<sub>2</sub>; Appl. Surf. Sci. 225 (2004) 7–13.
- 82. Bedrane, S., C. Descorme, and D. Duprez: Investigation of the oxygen storage process on ceria- and ceria-zirconia-supported catalysts; Catal. Today 75 (2002) 401–405.
- 84. Nijhuis, T.A., M. Makkee, A.D. van Langeveld, and J.A. Moulijn: New insights in the platinum-catalyzed CO oxidation kinetic mechanism by using an advanced CO oxidation kinetic mechanism by using an advanced TAP reactor system; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 164 (1997) 237–249.
- 85. Boulahouche, A., G. Kons, H.G. Lintz, and P. Schultz: Oxidation of carbon monoxide on platinum-tin dioxide catalysts at low temperatures; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 91 (1992) 115–123.
- 86. Glassey, W.V. and R. Hoffman: A molecular orbital study of surface-adsorbate interactions during the oxidation of CO on the Pt (111) surface; Surf. Sci. 475 (2001) 47–60.
- 87. Daniells, S.T., A.R. Overweg, M. Makkee, and J.A. Moulijn: The mechanism of low-temperature CO oxidation with Au/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts: a combined Mossbauer, FT-IR, and TAP reactor study; J. Catal. 230 (2005) 52–65.
- 88. Dyakonov, A.J. and D.A. Grider: "A smoking article including a selective carbon monoxide pump", Patent WO 0243514, June 6, 2002.
- 89. Davis, R.J.: New perspectives on basic catalysts and catalyst support; J. Catal. 216 (2003) 396–405.
- 90. Aylor, A.W., L.J. Lobree, J.A. Reimer, and A.T. Bell: Investigations of the dispersion of Pd in H-ZSN-5; J. Catal. 172 (1997) 453–462.
- 91. Lobree, L.J., I.-C. Hwang, J.A. Reimer, and A.T. Bell: Investigations of the state of Fe in H-ZSN-5. J; Catal. 186 (1999) 242–253.
- 92. Kim, D.H., S.I. Woo, and O. Yang: Effect of pH in a sol-gel synthesis on the physicochemical properties of Pd-alumina three-way catalyst; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 26 (2000) 285–289.

- Shen, W.J. and Y. Matsumura: Interaction between palladium and the support in Pd/CeO<sub>2</sub> prepared by deposition-precipitation method and the catalytic activity for methanol decomposition; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 153 (2000) 165–168.
- 94. Ichikawa, M.: "Ship-in-bottle" catalyst technology; Platinum Metals Rev. 44 (2000) 3–14.
- 95. Fukuoka, A., N. Higashimoto, Y. Sakamoto, M. Sasaki, N. Sugimoto, S. Inagaki, Y. Fukushima, and M. Ichikawa: Ship-in-bottle synthesis and catalytic performances of platinum carbonyl clusters, nanowires, and nanoparticles in micro- and mesoporous materials; Catal. Today 66 (2001) 23–31.
- Margitfalvi, J., I. Borbath, K. Lazar, E. Tfirst, A. Szegedi, M. Hegeds, and S. Gbolos: In situ characterization of Sn-PtSiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts used in low temperature oxidation of CO; J. Catal. 203 (2001) 94–103.
- 97. Margitfalvi, J., I. Borbath, M. Hegedus, A. Szegedi, E. Tfirst, K. Lazar, S. Gbolos, and S. Kristyan: Low temperature oxidation of CO over tin-modified Pt/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst; Catal. Today 73 (2002) 343–353.
- 98. Colen, R.E.R., M. Kolodziejczyk, B. Delmon, and J.H. Block: Kinetic study of CO oxidation on copper modified Pt (111); Surf. Sci. 412–413 (1998) 447–457.
- 99. Mergler, Y.J., A. van Aalst, J. van Delft, and B.E. Nieuwenhuys: CO oxidation over promoted Pt catalysts; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 10 (1996) 245–261.
- 100. Khanra, B.C. and M. Menon: Role of adsorption on surface composition of Pd-Cu nanoparticles; Physica B 270 (1998) 307–312.
- 101. Rochefort, A. and R. Fournier: Quantum chemical study of CO and NO bonding to Pd, Cu and PdCu; J. Phys. Chemistry 100 (1996) 13506–13513.
- 102. Shou, M., K. Tanaka, K. Yoshioka, Y. Morooka, and S. Nagano: New catalyst for selective oxidation of CO in excess H<sub>2</sub> designing of the active catalyst having different optimum temperature; Catal. Today 90 (2004) 255–261.
- 103. Takeguchi, T., O. Takeoh, S. Aoyama, J. Ueda, R. Kikuchi, and K. Eguchi: Strong chemical interaction between PdO and SnO<sub>2</sub> and the influence on catalytic combustion of methane; Appl. Catal. A: Gen., 252 (2003) 205–214.
- 104. Jerdev, D.I. and B.E. Koel: Oxidation of ordered Pt-Sn surface alloys by O<sub>2</sub>; Surf. Sci. 492 (2001) 1066–114.
- 105. Kulshreshtha, S.K. and M.M. Gadgil: Physicochemical characteristics and CO oxidation over Pd/ (Mn<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>+SnO<sub>2</sub>) catalyst; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 11 (1997) 291–305.
- 106. Konsolakis, M., I.V. Yentekakis, A. Palermo, and R.M. Lambert: Optimal promotion by rubidium of the CO+NO reaction over Pt/γ-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 33 (2001) 293–302.
- 107. Iuke, S.E. and F.R. Ahmadun: Adsorption and solid catalyzed reaction between activated carbon impregnated with SnO<sub>2</sub> and CO at ordinary temperatures; Appl. Surf. Sci. 187 (2002) 37–44.
- 108. Al-Khatib, M.F., S.E. Iyuke, A.B. Mohamad, W.R.W. Daud, A.A.H. Kadhum, A.M. Shariff, and M.A. Yarmo: The effect of impregnation of activated carbon

- with SnCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O on its porosity, surface composition and CO gas adsorption; Carbon 40 (2002) 1929–1936.
- 109. Ito, S., H. Tanaka, Y. Minemura, S. Kameoka, K. Tomishige, and K. Kunimori: Selective CO oxidation in H<sub>2</sub>-rich gas over K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>-promoted Rh/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts: effect of preparation method; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 273 (2004) 295–302.
- 110. Chandler, B.D. and L.P. Pignolet: DRIFTS studies of carbon monoxide coverage on highly dispersed bimetallic Pt-Cu and Pt-Au catalysts; Catal. Today 65 (2001) 39–50.
- 111. Venezia, A.M., L.F. Liotta, G. Pantaleo, V. La Parola, G. Deganello, A. Beck, Z. Koppany, K. Frey, D. Horvath, and L. Guczi: Activity of SiO<sub>2</sub> supported gold-palladium catalysts in CO oxidation; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 251 (2003) 359–368.
- 112. Radkevich, V.Z., A.A. Ivko, and Y.G. Egiazarov: Effect of the acid-base properties on the activity of Pdzeolite catalysts for CO oxidation; Kinet. Catal. 42 (2001) 520–524.
- 113. Goguet, A., M. Aouine, F.J. Cadete Santos Aires, A. De Mallmann, D. Schweich, and J.P. Candy: Preparation of a Pt/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. I. Interaction between platinum tetrammine hydroxide and the silica surface; J. Catal. 209 (2002) 135–144.
- 114. Yang, C., M. Kalwei, F. Schuth, and K. Chao: Gold nanoparticles in SBA-15 showing catalytic activity in CO oxidation; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 254 (2003) 289–296.
- 115. Riahi, G., D. Guillemot, M. Polisset-Thfoin, A.A. Khodadadi, and J. Fraissard: Preparation, characterization and catalytic activity of gold-based nanoparticles on HY zeolites; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 115–121.
- 116. Crabb, E.M. and R. Marshall: Properties of alumina supported Pd-Fe and Pt-Fe catalysts prepared using surface organometallic chemistry; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 217 (2001) 41–53.
- 117. Farrauto, R.J. and C.H. Bartholomew: Fundamentals of industrial catalytic processes; Blackie Academic & Professional, London, 1997, p. 495.
- 118. Nowinska, K., M. Sopa, D. Dudko, and M. Mocna: Transition metal salts of heteropoly acids as palladium co-catalysts for Wacker oxidation of butene-1 to MEK; Catal. Lett. 49 (1997) 43–48.
- 119. De Vos, D.E., B.F. Sels, and P.A. Jacobs: Immobilization of homogeneous oxidation catalysts; Adv. Catal. 46 (2001) 1–87.
- 120. Kim, K.D., I.S. Nam, J.S. Chung, J.S. Lee, S.G. Ryu, and Y.S. Yang: Supported PdCl<sub>2</sub>-CuCl<sub>2</sub> catalysts for carbon monoxide oxidation. I. Effects of catalyst composition and reaction conditions; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 5 (1994) 1023–115.
- 121. Park, E.D. and J.S. Lee: Effects of copper on CO oxidation over supported Wacker-type catalysts; J. Catal. 180 (1998) 123–131.
- 122. Wu, J.C.S. and T.Y. Chang: VOC deep oxidation over Pt catalysts using hydrophobic supports; Catal. Today 44 (1998) 111–118.
- 123. Yamamoto, Y., T. Matsuzaki, K. Ohdan, and Y. Okamoto: Structure and electronic state of PdCl<sub>2</sub>-CuCl<sub>2</sub> catalysts supported on activated carbon; J.

- Catal. 161 (1996) 577.
- 124. Park, E. D., S. H. Choi, and J.S. Lee: Active states of Pd and Cu in carbon-supported Wacker-type catalysts for low-temperature CO oxidation; J. Phys. Chem. B 104 (2000) 5586–5594.
- 125. Bond, G.C. and D.T. Thompson: Catalysis by gold; Catal. Rev. Sci. and Eng. 41 (1998) 319–388.
- 126. Thompson, D.T.: Perspective on industrial and scientific aspects of gold catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 243 (2003) 201–205.
- 127. Hutchings, G.J.: Catalysis by gold; Catal. Today 100 (2005) 55–61.
- 128. Peters, K.F., P. Steadman, H. Isern, J. Alvarez, and S. Ferrer: Elevated-pressure chemical reactivity of carbon monoxide over Au(111); Surf. Sci. 467 (2000) 10–22.
- 129. Yuan, Y., K. Asakura, H. Wan, K. Tsai, and Y. Iwasawa: Supported gold catalysts derived from gold complexes and as-precipitated metal hydroxides, highly active for low-temperature CO oxidation; Chem. Lett. (1996) 755.
- 130. Pillai, U.R. and S. Deevi: Highly active gold-ceria catalyst for the room temperature oxidation of carbon monoxide; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 299 (2006) 266–273.
- 131. Piccolo, L., D. Loffreda, F.J. Cadete Santos Aires, C. Deranlot, Y. Jugnet, P. Sautet, and J.C. Bertolini: The adsorption of CO on Au(111) at elevated pressures studied by STM, RAIRS and DFT calculations; Surf. Sci. 566–568 (2004) 995–1000.
- 132. Giordano, L., G. Pacchioni, T. Bredow, and J.F. Sanz: Cu, Ag, and Au atoms adsorbed on TiO<sub>2</sub> (110): cluster and periodic calculations; Surf. Sci. 471 (2001) 21–31.
- 133. Wang, C.B., H.K. Lin, and C.M. Ho: Effects of addition of titania on the thermal characterization of alumina-supported palladium; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 180 (2002) 285–291.
- 134. Okumura, M., S. Tsubota, and M. Haruta: Preparation of supported gold catalysts by gas-phase grafting of gold acetylacetonate for low-temperature oxidation of CO and of H<sub>2</sub>; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 199 (2003) 73–84.
- 135. Kim, C.H. and L.T. Thompson: Deactivation of Au/CeO<sub>x</sub> water gas shift catalysts; J. Catal. 230 (2005) 66–74.
- 136. Lopez, N., J.K. Norskov, T.V.W. Janssens, A. Carlsson, A. Puig-Molina, B.S. Clausen, and J.D. Grunwaldt: The adhesion and shape of nanosized Au particles in Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst; J. Catal. 225 (2004) 86–94.
- 137. Minato, T., T. Susaki, S. Shiraki, H.S. Kato, M. Kawai, and K. Aika: Investigation of the electronic interaction between TiO<sub>2</sub> (110) surfaces and Au clusters by PES and STM; Surf. Sci. 566–568 (2004) 1012–1017.
- 138. Date, M., Y. Ichihashi, T. Yamashita, A. Chirino, F. Boccuzzi, and M. Haruta: Performance of Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst under ambient conditions; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 89–94.
- 139. Soares, J.M.C., P. Morrall, A. Crossley, P. Herris, and M. Bowker: Catalytic and noncatalytic CO oxidation on Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts; J. Catal. 219 (2003) 17–24.
- 140. Boccuzzi, F., E. Guglielminotti, F. Pinna, and G.

- Strukul: Surface composition and reactivity of bimetallic Au-Pt/ZrO $_2$  samples; Surf. Sci. 377–379 (1997) 728.
- 141. Grunwaldt, J.D., M. Maciejewski, O.S. Becker, P. Fabrizioli, and A. Baiker: Comparative study of Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> and Au/ZrO<sub>2</sub> catalysts for low-temperature CO oxidation; J. Catal. 186-2 (1998) 458–469.
- 142. Costello, C.K., M.C. Kung, H.S. Oh, Y. Wang, and H.H. Kung: Nature of the active site for CO oxidation on highly active Au/γ-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 232 (2002) 159–168.
- 143. Kung, H.H., M.C. Kung, and C.K. Costello: Supported Au catalysts for low temperature CO oxidation; J. Catal. 216 (2003) 425–432.
- 144. Costello C.K, J.H. Yang, H.Y. Law, Y. Wang, J.N. Lin, L.D. Marks, M.C. Kung, and H.H. Kung: On the potential role of hydroxyl groups in CO oxidation over Au/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 243 (2003) 15–24.
- 145. Derrouiche, S. and D. Bianchi: Experiments and kinetic model regarding the induction period observed during the oxidation by O<sub>2</sub> of adsorbed CO species on Pt/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts; J. Catal. 230 (2005) 359–374.
- 146. Gottfried, J.M. and K. Christmann: Oxidation of carbon monoxide over Au (110)-(1x2); Surf. Sci. 566–568 (2004) 1112–1117.
- 147. Manuel, I., J. Chaubet, C. Thimas, N. Matthess, and G. Diega-Mariadassou: Simulation of the transient CO oxidation over Rh<sup>o</sup>/SiO<sub>2</sub> and Rh<sup>x+</sup>/Ce<sub>0.68</sub>Zr<sub>0.32</sub>O<sub>2</sub> catalysts; J. Catal. 224 (2004) 269–277.
- 148. Schumacher, B., Y. Denkwitz, V. Plzak, M. Kinne, and R.J. Behm: Kinetics, mechanism, and the influence of H<sub>2</sub> on the CO oxidation on a Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst; J. Catal. 224 (2004) 449–462.
- 149. Manzoli, M., A. Chiorino, and F. Boccuzzi: Interface species and effect of hydrogen on their amount in the CO oxidation on Au/ZnO; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 52 (2004) 259–266.
- 150. Jacobs, G., S. Ricote, U.M. Graham, P.M. Patterson, and B.H. Davis: Low temperature water gas shift: Type and loading of metal impact forward decomposition of pseudo-stabilized formate over metal/ceria catalysts; Catal. Today 106 (2005) 259–264.
- 151. Tabakova, T., F. Boccuzzi, M. Manzoni, J.W. Sobczak, V. Idakiev, and D. Andreeva: A comparative study of nanosized IB/ceria catalysts for low-temperature water-gas shift reaction; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 298 (2005) 127–143.
- 152. Margitfalvi, J.L., M. Hegedus, A. Szegedi, and I. Sajo: Modification of Au/MgO catalysts used in low temperature CO oxidation with Mn and Fe; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 272 (2004) 87–97.
- 153. Haruta, M. and M. Date: Advances in the catalysis of Au nanoparticles; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 222 (2001) 427–437.
- 154. Gottfried, J.M., K.J. Schmidt, S.L.M. Schroeder, and K. Christmann: Adsorption of carbon monoxide on Au(110)-(1x2); Surf. Sci. 536 (2003) 206–224.
- 155. Wang, D., Z. Hao, D. Cheng, X. Shi, and C. Hu: Influence of pretreatment conditions on low-temperature CO oxidation over Au/MO<sub>x</sub>/A<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 200 (2003) 229–238.

- 156. Minico, S., S. Scire, C. Crisafulli, A.M. Visco, and S. Galvagno: FT-IR study of Au/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts for CO oxidation at low temperature; Catal. Lett. 47 (1997) 273–276.
- 157. Margitfalvi, J.L., A. Fasi, M. Heged, F. Lonyi, S. Gobolos, and N. Bogdanchikova: Au/MgO catalysts modified with ascorbic acid for low temperature CO oxidation; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 157–169.
- 158. Goossens, A., M.W.J. Craje, A.M. van der Kraan, A. Zwijnenburg, M. Makkee, J.A. Moulijn, and L.J. de Jongh: Supported gold catalysts studied with <sup>197</sup>Au Mössbauer effect spectroscopy; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 95–100.
- 159. Golunski, S., R. Rajaram, N. Hodge, G.J. Hutchings, and C.J. Kiely: Low-temperature redox activity in coprecipitated catalysts: comparison between gold and platinum-group metals; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 107–113.
- 160. Liu, H., I.A. Kozlov, P.A. Kozlova, T. Shido, K. Asakura, and Y. Iwasawa: Active oxygen species and reaction mechanism for low-temperature CO oxidation on an Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-supported Au catalyst prepared from Au(PPh<sub>3</sub>)(NO<sub>3</sub>) and as-precipitated iron hydroxide; Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 1 (1998) 285.
- 161. Chang, B.K., B.W. Jang, S. Dai, and S.H. Overbury: Transient studies of the mechanisms of CO oxidation over Au/TiO2 using time-resolved FTIR spectroscopy and product analysis; J. Catal. 236 (2005) 392–400.
- 162. Hao, Z., L. Fen, G.Q. Lu, J. Liu, L. An, and H. Wang: In situ electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) study of surface oxygen species on Au/ZnO catalyst for lowtemperature carbon monoxide oxidation; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 213 (2001) 173–177.
- 163. Deng, W., J. De Jesus, H. Saltsburg, and M. Flytzani-Stephanopoulos: Low-content gold-ceria catalysts for the water-gas-shift and preferential CO oxidation reactions; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 291 (2005) 126–135.
- 164. Cunningham, D.A.H., W. Vogel, H. Kageyama, S. Tsubota, and M. Haruta: The relationship between the structure and activity of nanometer size gold when supported on Mg(OH)<sub>2</sub>; J. Catal. 177-1 (1998) 1–10.
- 165. Gluhoi, A.C., M.A.P. Dekkers, and B.E. Nieuwenhuys: Comparative studies of the  $N_2/H_2$ ,  $N_2O/CO$ ,  $H_2/O_2$  and  $CO/O_2$  reactions on supported gold catalysts: effect of the addition of various oxides; J. Catal. 219 (2003) 197–205.
- 166. Schubert, M.M., S. Hackenberg, A.C. van Veen, M. Muhler, V. Plzak, and R.J. Behm: CO oxidation over supported gold catalysts "inert" and "active" support materials and their role for the oxygen supply during reaction; J. Catal. 197 (2001) 113–122.
- 167. Guczi, L., D. Horvath, Z. Paszti, and G. Peto: Effect of treatments on gold nanoparticles: Relation between morphology, electron structure and catalytic activity in CO oxidation; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 101–105.
- 168. Zhang, G.Y., W.X. Wang, H.L. Lian, D.Z. Jiang, and T.H. Wu: Effect of calcination temperatures and precipitant on the catalytic performance of Au/ZnO catalysts for CO oxidation at ambient temperature and humid circumstances; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 239 (2003) 1–10.
- 169. Kozlov, A.I., D.H. Kim, A. Yezerets, P. Andersen,

- H.H. Kung, and M.C. Kung: Effect of preparation method and redox treatment on the reducibility and structure of supported ceria-zirconia mixed oxide; J. Catal. 209 (2002) 417–426.
- 170. Bulgakov, N.N., V.A. Sadykov, V.V. Lunin, and E. Kemmitz: Lattice defects and oxygen absorption in ceria/ceria/zirconia solid solutions: analysis by semi-empirical interacting bonds method; React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 76 (2002) 103–110.
- 171. Centeno, M.A., M. Paulis, M. Montes, and J.A. Odriozola: Catalytic combustion of volatile organic compounds on Au/CeO<sub>2</sub>/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and Au/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 234 (2002) 65–78.
- 172. Lin, J.N., J.H. Chen, C.Y. Hsiao, Y.M. Kang, and B.Z. Wan: Gold supported on surface acidity modified Y-type and iron/Y-type zeolite for CO oxidation; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 36 (2002) 19–29.
- 173. Lin, J.N. and B.Z. Wan: Effects of preparation conditions on gold/Y-type zeolite for CO oxidation; Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 41 (2003) 83–95.
- 174. Bulushev, D.A., L. Kiwi-Minsker, I. Yuranov, E.I. Suvurova, P.A. Buffat, and A. Renken: Structured Au/FeO<sub>x</sub>/C catalysts for low-temperature CO oxidation; J. Catal. 210 (2002) 149–159.
- 175. Wolf, A. and F. Schuth: A systematic study of the synthesis conditions for the preparation of highly active gold catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 226 (2002) 1–13.
- 176. Schimpf, S., M. Lucas, C. Mohr, U. Rodemerck, A. Bruckner, J. Radnik, H. Hofmeister, and P. Claus: Supported gold nanoparticles: in-depth catalyst characterization and application in hydrogenation and oxidation reactions; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 63–78.
- 177. Ivanova, S., V. Pitchon, C. Petit, H. Herschbach, A. Van Dosselaer, and R. Leize: Preparation of alumina supported gold catalysts: Gold complexes genesis, identification and specification by mass-spectrometry; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 298 (2006) 203–210.
- 178. Gluhoi, A.C., N. Bogdanchikova, and B.E. Nieuwenhuys: The effect of different types of additives on the catalytic activity of Au/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in propane total oxidation: transition metal oxides and ceria. J. Catal. 229 (2005) 154–162.
- 179. Moran-Pineda, M., S. Castillo, and R. Gomez: Low-temperature CO oxidation on Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> sol-gel catalysts; React. Kinet. Catal. Lett. 76 (2002) 375–381.
- 180. Fan, L., N. Ichikuni, S. Shimazu, and T. Uematsu: Preparation of Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts by suspension spray reaction method and their catalytic property for CO oxidation; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 246 (2003) 87–95.
- 181. Mallick, K., M.J. Witcomb, and M.S. Scurrel: Simplified single-step route for the preparation of a highly active gold-based catalyst for CO oxidation; J. Molec. Catal. A: Chem. 215 (2004) 103–106.
- 182. Lin, C.H., S.H. Hsu, M.Y. Lee, and S.D. Lin: Active morphology of  $Pt/\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> A model by EXAFS; J. Catal. 209 (2002) 62–68.
- 183. Wang, G.Y., H.L. Lian, W.X. Zhang, D.Z. Jiang, and T.H. Wu: Stability and deactivation of Au/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> catalysts for CO oxidation at ambient temperature and moisture; Kinet. Catal. 43 (2002) 433–442.
- 184. Li, W.C., M. Comitti, and F. Schuth: Highly

- reproducible syntheses of active Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> catalysts for CO oxidation by deposition-precipitation or impregnation; J. Catal. 237 (2005) 190–196.
- 185. Hodge, N.A., C.J. Kiely, R. Whyman, M.R.H. Siddiqui, G.J. Hutchings, Q.A., Pankhurst, F.E. Wagner, R.R. Rajaram, and S.E. Golunski: Microstructural comparison of calcined and uncalcined gold/iron-oxide catalysts for low-temperature CO oxidation; Catal. Today 72 (2002) 133–144.
- 186. Hutchings, G.J., M.R.H. Siddiqui, A. Burrows, C.J. Kiely, and R. Whyman: High activity Au/CuO-ZnO catalysis for the oxidation of carbon monoxide at ambient temperature; J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 93 (1997) 187.
- 187. Carrey, J., J.L. Maurice, F. Petroff, and A. Vaurnes: Growth of Au clusters on amorphous Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>: are small clusters more mobile than atoms? Surf. Sci. 505 (2002) 75–82.
- 188. Tai, Y., J. Marakami, K. Tajiri, F. Ohashi, M. Date, and S. Tsubota: Oxidation of carbon monoxide on Au nanoparticles in titania and titania-coated silica aerogels; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 268 (2004) 183–187.
- 189. Alexander, B.D., P.D. Boyle, B.J. Johnson, A.L. Casalnuovo, S.M Johnson., A.M. Mueting, and L.H. Pignolet: Mixed-metal gold phosphine cluster complexes and their reactivity toward triphenylphosphine; Inorg. Chem. 26 (1987) 2547–2551.

- 190. Olea, M. and Y. Iwasawa: Transient studies of carbon monoxide oxidation over supported gold catalysts; Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 275 (2004) 35–42.
- 191. Choudhary, T.V., C. Sivadinarayana, C.C. Chusuei, A. K. Datye, J.P. Fackler, and D.W. Goodman, Jr.: CO oxidation on supported nano-Au catalysts synthesized from a [Au<sub>6</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>6</sub>](BF<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub> complex; J. Catal. 207 (2002) 247–255.
- 192. Augustine, R.K. and S. Tanielyan: Mixed transition metal oxide catalysts for conversion of carbon monoxide and method for producing the catalyst; US Patent 5258340, 1993.

Corresponding author:

Alexander J. Dyakonov A. W. Spears Research Center Lorillard Tobacco Company 420 English St. Greensboro N.C. 27420 USA

E-mail: adyakonov@lortobco.com